
 

1 
 

 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING  

AND POSSIBLE EXECUTIVE SESSION OF THE     
STATE OF ARIZONA 

CITIZENS CLEAN ELECTIONS COMMISSION 
 

Location:   Citizens Clean Elections Commission    

1616 West Adams, Suite 110     

Phoenix, Arizona 85007     

Date:  Thursday, September 27, 2018             

Time:     9:30 a. m. 

 Pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the Commissioners of the Citizens Clean Elections 

Commission and the general public that the Citizens Clean Elections Commission will hold a regular meeting, which 

is open to the public on September 27, 2018.  This meeting will be held at 9:30 a.m., at the Citizens Clean Elections 

Commission, 1616 West Adams, Suite 110, Phoenix, Arizona 85007.  The meeting may be available for live 

streaming online at www.livestream.com/cleanelections.  Members of the Citizens Clean Elections Commission will 

attend either in person or by telephone, video, or internet conferencing. 
The Commission may vote to go into executive session, which will not be open to the public, for the purpose of 

obtaining legal advice on any item listed on the agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.03 (A)(3).  The Commission 

reserves the right at its discretion to address the agenda matters in an order different than outlined below.  All 

matters on the agenda may be discussed, considered and are subject to action by the Commission.  

Possible action on any Matter Under Review (MUR) identified in this agenda may include authorizing or 

entering into a conciliation agreement with subject of the MUR, in addition to any other actions, such as 

finding reason to believe a violation has occurred, finding probable cause to believe a violation has occurred, 

applying penalties, ordering the repayment of monies to the Clean Elections Fund, or terminating a 

proceeding.  

The agenda for the meeting is as follows:  

I. Call to Order 

II. Discussion and Possible Action on Commission Minutes for July 19, 2018 meeting. 

III. Discussion and Possible Action on Executive Director’s Report  

IV. Discussion and Possible Action on Clean Elections’ Voter Education. 

V. Discussion and Possible Action on MUR 18-12, American Strong PAC. 

VI. Discussion and Possible Action on MUR 18-07, One Arizona dba Sunlight Arizona. 

 
 



 

2 
 

VII. Public Comment 

 

This is the time for consideration of comments and suggestions from the public.  Action taken as a result of 

public comment will be limited to directing staff to study the matter or rescheduling the matter for further 

consideration and decision at a later date or responding to criticism 

VIII. Adjournment. 

This agenda is subject to change up to 24 hours prior to the meeting.  A copy of the agenda background 

material provided to the Commission (with the exception of material relating to possible executive 

sessions) is available for public inspection at the Commission’s office, 1616 West Adams, Suite 110, 

Phoenix, Arizona 85007. 

      Dated this 25th day of September, 2018.  

 

      Citizens Clean Elections Commission 

      Thomas M. Collins, Executive Director 

 

Any person with a disability may request a reasonable accommodation, such as a sign language interpreter, 

by contacting the Commission at (602) 364-3477.  Requests should be made as early as possible to allow 

time to arrange accommodations. 



Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440  www.coashandcoash.com

Transcript of Proceedings - July 19, 2018
Public Session

1

 
  1

 2

 3

 4  THE STATE OF ARIZONA

 5    CITIZENS CLEAN ELECTIONS COMMISSION

 6

 7

 8

 9

10  REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF PUBLIC MEETING

11

12

13

14    Phoenix, Arizona

15   July 19, 2018

16  9:31 a.m.

17

18

19

20

21   COASH & COASH, INC.
 Court Reporting, Video & Videoconferencing

22   1802 North 7th Street, Phoenix, AZ 85006
 602-258-1440   staff@coashandcoash.com

23

24  Prepared by:
 LILIA MONARREZ, CSR, RPR

25  Certificate No. 50699

ITEM II



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

Page 2

 1         PUBLIC MEETING BEFORE THE CITIZENS CLEAN
    ELECTIONS COMMISSION convened at 9:31 a.m. on July 19,
 2  2018, at the State of Arizona, Clean Elections
    Commission, 1616 West Adams, Conference Room, Phoenix,
 3  Arizona, in the presence of the following Board members:
           Mr. Damien R. Meyer, Chairperson
 4         Mr. Mark S. Kimble
           Ms. Amy B. Chan
 5         Mr. Galen D. Paton
   
 6  OTHERS PRESENT:
   
 7         Thomas M. Collins, Executive Director
           Paula Thomas, Executive Officer
 8         Gina Roberts, Voter Education Director
           Mike Becker, Policy Director
 9         Alec Shaffer, Web Content Manager
           Stephanie Cooper, Executive Support Specialist
10         Mary O'Grady, Osborn Maledon
           Kara Karlson, Assistant Attorney General
11         Rivko Knox, AZ League of Women Voters
           Morgan Dick, AZAN
12         Talei Hornback, RIESTER
           Tricia Kashima, RIESTER
13         Christina Borrego, RIESTER
           Ryan Wheelock, RIESTER
14         JP Twist, Ducey for Governor
           Sara Mueller, Ducey for Governor
15         Zack Dean, Senate
           Jeffrey Ong, Senate
16 
   
17 
   
18 
   
19 
   
20 
   
21 
   
22 
   
23 
   
24 
   
25 

09:31:02-09:31:52 Page 3

 1      P R O C E E D I N G
 2  
 3      CHAIRMAN MEYER: All right.  Good morning.
 4  We're going to call to order the meeting of the
 5  Citizens Clean Elections Commission noticed for July 19
 6  at 9:30 a.m.
 7      The next -- the first item on the agenda is
 8  discussion and possible action on Commission minutes
 9  for the June 28th, 2018 meeting.
10      Any comments on the minutes or motions?
11      COMMISSIONER KIMBLE: Mr. Chairman?
12      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Commissioner Kimble.
13      COMMISSIONER KIMBLE: I move we approve the
14  minutes of the June 28th, 2018 meeting.
15      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Is there a second?
16      COMMISSIONER CHAN: I second that motion.
17      CHAIRMAN MEYER: We have a motion to
18  approve the minutes for the June 28th meeting.  It has
19  been first and seconded.
20      All if favor say aye.
21      (Chorus of ayes.)
22      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Any opposition?
23      (No response.)
24      CHAIRMAN MEYER: The motion carries
25  unanimously.

09:31:52-09:32:56 Page 4

 1      And I'm assuming we don't have Commissioner
 2  Titla on the phone.  No one is on the phone.
 3      Correct, Tom?
 4      MS. THOMAS: That is -- no.  We're good.
 5      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Thank you.
 6      Next item, Item III on the agenda:
 7  Discussion and possible action on the executive
 8  director's report.
 9      Tom?
10      MR. COLLINS: Yes.  Chairman,
11  Commissioners, I'll try to make this as quick as
12  possible.
13      I want to -- first, you know, you see all
14  the activity going on in voter education.  So I want to
15  give a big shot out to Gina and Alec and Stephanie for
16  their work.
17      Next week we've got the pilot program that
18  initiated from Commissioner -- Commissioner Paton.
19  We'll be having forums or debates at Sahuarita, Sahuaro
20  and Empire High Schools in Tucson.  We're excited about
21  that.  We think that's a good opportunity to connect
22  with the community and connect with -- with folks.
23      You'll see that Gina presented at the
24  American Indian Right to Vote Conference last week, and
25  Alec will be out at the Municipal Clerks Association

09:32:59-09:34:05 Page 5

 1  meeting.
 2      We've also, this year -- for many years
 3  we've been asked to sponsor the Meet the Candidates
 4  event that the "Arizona Capitol Times" puts on, and
 5  we've -- we have previously declined because the event
 6  was -- required people to pay.  We were able to
 7  negotiate with them to become the biggest sponsor and,
 8  in return, there's no charge.  So the public can
 9  actually come and meet the candidates.
10      So that's, again, a bit of a pilot program.
11  We'll see how it works.  I know some -- I know it does
12  get attended by folks.  The reason we've always
13  objected to sponsoring with the charge is because it's
14  really not -- it doesn't make it a good voter event --
15  voter education event if, you know, folks have to pay
16  to get in, but we -- we're trying that this year.  So
17  we're excited about that.
18      COMMISSIONER PATON: I have a question.
19      MR. COLLINS: Yeah.  Yes.
20      COMMISSIONER PATON: So are those statewide
21  candidates?  Are there --
22      MR. COLLINS: All candidates are invited
23  from all over the state, and my understanding is they
24  get fairly good attendance of candidates.  What our
25  hope is is if this is something that works, it's

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(1) Pages 2 - 5



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

09:34:08-09:35:32 Page 6

 1  something we could do to supplement our debates.  If we
 2  could do something like this in Phoenix and something
 3  like this in Tucson and something like this, you know,
 4  in Prescott or Flag, you know, even in Yuma, we might
 5  be able to, you know, really supplement the debates by
 6  allowing informal opportunities for folks to meet with
 7  candidates rather than just the debate context.
 8      So that's the theory behind this.  If it
 9  works, it works.  If it doesn't work, then we'll, you
10  know, think about not doing it again, but that's our
11  hope for that.
12      I want to real briefly mention the proposed
13  consent decree between -- negotiated between LULAC,
14  Secretary Reagan and Recorder Fontes has now been
15  signed by the judge, and an additional copy of that is
16  there.
17      Kara will correct me if I'm wrong, but
18  essentially, what the guts of the consent decree are,
19  anyone who submits any kind of form, whether a state or
20  federal form, but without proof of citizenship, will --
21  but has been signed will automatically be a federal
22  voter for sure.  And then the -- whereas, the prior
23  policy was that county recorders were to -- were not to
24  accept but reject forms that didn't have proof of
25  citizenship.

09:35:33-09:36:52 Page 7

 1      That now is -- that language has been
 2  reconsidered and interpreted to allow county recorders
 3  to, essentially, bounce the information that they have
 4  on the form off the systems that they have for -- for
 5  confirming voter I.D. to get at least a soft match.  I
 6  don't know if it needs to be a hard match.
 7      MS. KARLSON: Tom, that's a very good
 8  description of, like, the behind the scenes elections
 9  officials --
10      MR. COLLINS: Yeah.
11      MS. KARLSON: -- what they do.  I think
12  that, perhaps, for the public it's better just to
13  understand that Arizona had previously treated people
14  who used the state form one way and people who used the
15  federal form a different way pursuant to a Supreme
16  Court decision.  And the LULAC consent decree just says
17  it shouldn't matter what piece of paper you fill out.
18  You get treated the same way as a voter, all consistent
19  with state and federal laws.
20      MR. COLLINS: That is a much better
21  description.  In full disclosure, I worked on that
22  Supreme Court case.  So my brain is still locked into
23  that way of looking at the world.
24      And then the last thing I wanted to let you
25  know is there is another case now in federal court that

09:36:55-09:38:03 Page 8

 1  may affect voters that was filed by Rivko Knox, who is
 2  here and is always here.  Rivko Knox v. Brnovich in
 3  that case is a challenge to the State's ballot
 4  collection law, as is -- and questions whether it's
 5  preempted, essentially, by a federal postal law.  And
 6  we've given you a copy of the complaint and the
 7  preliminary injunction motion there.
 8      My understanding is that they have moved to
 9  consolidate on the merits, and I think they're also
10  working on an expedited basis.
11      Is that correct?
12      MS. KARLSON: Yes.  The lawsuit is
13  expedited.  So the hearing will be on August 10th.
14      MR. COLLINS: Okay.  So the important thing
15  for voters to know there would be that the issue is
16  whether or not the State's current ballot collection
17  law which says that unless you fit into a certain
18  category, you can't collect another person's voted or
19  unvoted ballot.  If this were to be preempted, then, I
20  guess, the result would be that you could collect
21  ballots of other people.
22      MS. KARLSON: Correct.  The plaintiffs are
23  seeking an injunction against the ballot collection
24  restrictions for unauthorized proxies.
25      MR. COLLINS: So there's a lot of action,

09:38:05-09:39:01 Page 9

 1  my point is, in terms of -- in terms of voters and what
 2  the rules are still for this election cycle, and we're
 3  trying to make -- do our best to keep you informed.
 4  And then -- and then we'll be -- that will be
 5  reflected, obviously, in what we put out on our website
 6  and those kinds of things.
 7      So thank you, Kara, for filling in the
 8  gaps.  I appreciate that.
 9      That's the end of my report.
10      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Is that hearing on the
11  10th -- is that just legal argument?
12      MS. KARLSON: It's actually -- so the trial
13  judge has consolidated the preliminary injunction
14  motion with the trial on the merits.  So it will be,
15  you know, a final decision insofar as the district
16  court goes.
17      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Is there any evidence to
18  be presented in those, or is it just going to be --
19      MS. KARLSON: It's a legal argument.
20      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Okay.  Interesting.
21      Okay.  Do any Commissioners have any
22  questions on the executive director's report?
23      (No response.)
24      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Okay.  We'll move on to
25  Item Number IV on the agenda, which is discussion and

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(2) Pages 6 - 9



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

09:39:06-09:40:46 Page 10

 1  possible action on the Clean Elections Voter Education
 2  and matters relating to informing public of debates.
 3      Tom?
 4      MR. COLLINS: Yeah.  Mr. Chairman, so we
 5  wrote this agenda item a little bit broadly to make
 6  sure that we could capture as much of discussion as you
 7  and others wanted to have about this, but first of all,
 8  the genesis of this is a Google AdWords ad that said to
 9  the effect of watch Governor Ducey defend his record.
10  And after Governor Ducey had, first of all, declined to
11  participate in the debate, it ran after that.  And,
12  second of all, it had some language that that language
13  was -- you know, had an antagonistic quality and,
14  indeed, the ad had the wrong primary date.
15      So I want to, first off, just on behalf of
16  the Commission staff and myself, really, actually,
17  personally, you know, apologize for the ad content into
18  the -- Governor Ducey's campaign.  We did not intend
19  for and try very hard, in fact, not to have our Voter
20  Education Program cross over into actual candidate, you
21  know, issues.  So I apologize for that.  That's my
22  responsibility, and that really -- that buck on the
23  Voter Education Program stops with me.
24      What we have asked our ad company, or the
25  company that has our voter education purchase order,

09:40:49-09:42:17 Page 11

 1  RIESTER, to do is pull together as much information as
 2  we could.  We have a timeline I was unable to get a
 3  chance to print that shows you the time of how this
 4  worked, but I can go over it very -- I just want to go
 5  over that really quickly before -- oh, you have it?
 6  You have copies?
 7      Okay.  Can you -- well, you can bring --
 8      MS. BORREGO: Finish up.
 9      MR. COLLINS: Okay.  Basically, we were
10  contacted by the governor's campaign general counsel
11  on, I think, a Thursday night.  I contacted Gina that
12  night.  Gina contacted RIESTER that night.  By the next
13  morning, we had -- we had a preliminary answer by
14  midnight.  We had some more specific and a little bit
15  more detailed answers by 8:00 o'clock.  That morning we
16  got a stop on the ad as soon as possible.  I think that
17  very night, it stopped.  RIESTER, working with Google,
18  to get it stopped.
19      We worked -- we asked some additional
20  questions of RIESTER, which are in the formal memo that
21  is in your packet, and we have provided all that
22  information in real time to both you as commissioners
23  and to Governor Ducey's campaign, pursuant to their
24  request.  And so we have -- we think we've -- we think
25  we've caught up with things, and I think -- more

09:42:20-09:43:35 Page 12

 1  importantly, I think that we'll be talking about, you
 2  know, making sure that we have -- we have all the
 3  checks and balances in place that we need to make sure
 4  that our stated objectives are met.  And that's
 5  something, I think, RIESTER agrees with.
 6      RIESTER has several representatives here.
 7  I think Christina Borrego is going to speak -- was
 8  going to give a brief presentation on RIESTER and take
 9  her questions.  And then -- and, Mr. Chairman, if I
10  may, after Christina completes her statement, I thought
11  it might be a good time for the commissioners to ask
12  questions.
13      And then I also want to note that after
14  that, the Governor's campaign has been generous enough
15  to take time out of the campaign to have the Campaign
16  Manager JP Twist and Deputy Campaign Manger Sara
17  Mueller here, and I think one or both of them were
18  going to -- are going to speak.
19      So I thought we'd go Christina, questions,
20  and then to the Governor's -- Governor's campaign
21  manager, if that works for you, Mr. Chairman.
22      CHAIRMAN MEYER: It works for me.
23      Ms. Borrego.
24      MS. BORREGO: Yes.  Thank you, Chairman.
25  Thank you, Commissioners.  I do have a copy of the

09:43:38-09:44:39 Page 13

 1  timeline.
 2      Would you like me to hand that to you to
 3  hand out?
 4      MR. COLLINS: That will be perfect.
 5      MS. BORREGO: So as that's being passed
 6  out, first of all, RIESTER is not accustomed to this
 7  type of attention.  We are a very standup shop and work
 8  very hard on behalf of many clients in the state and
 9  regionally.
10      So on behalf of RIESTER, I would like to
11  officially apologize.  We have tremendous respect for
12  the Citizens Corporation Commission -- Citizens --
13  excuse me -- Citizens Clean Election Commission --
14  wrong campaign -- its leaders and its important role in
15  our community.  We are deeply sorry about our
16  employee's mistake that caused this incident.
17      Upon being made aware of this incorrect ad,
18  our firm acted immediately and swiftly.  In fact, our
19  actions are testament to how seriously we took this
20  situation.
21      By now you've had the opportunity to read
22  the memorandum in your -- in your meeting packets that
23  provides answers to questions posed about this matter.
24  I will provide a succinct verbal summary of what
25  occurred.  And in front of you, you have the timeline

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(3) Pages 10 - 13



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

09:44:42-09:45:55 Page 14

 1  that will help reinforce the series of events that
 2  transpired, and my hope is that this paints a very
 3  clear picture of what occurred because information and
 4  transparency is very important.  And I think that will
 5  help you understand.
 6      So there may be some questions related to
 7  technicalities of the technology employed for use of
 8  this type of ad and the process that the department
 9  responsible for search engine marketing employs.  I'll
10  do my best to clarify those questions in my summary,
11  but my -- may rely on my colleague Tricia Kashima, who
12  is here -- she's our media director -- to help me
13  answer any of your follow-up questions in regards to
14  technicalities and process.
15      So you have the timeline.  I'm going to
16  refer to it, and I'm going to start at the top where at
17      9:53 p.m. on Thursday evening -- a week ago -- we were
18  made aware of this -- of this and sent a screenshot of
19  this problem ad.  We -- the ones who saw it, we
20  immediately recognized two things:  one, the
21  information was absolutely incorrect and, two, the word
22  choice was incorrect.
23      Between 9:53 p.m. and 10:25 p.m., the
24  executive leadership that oversees search engine
25  marketing was immediately tracked down.  Within about

09:45:57-09:47:19 Page 15

 1  45 minutes of the first communication from Clean
 2  Elections, the firm had identified this unauthorized ad
 3  in the firm's Google search software platform and
 4  halted it.  By 10:27 p.m., when this specific ad was
 5  halted, it had received 2,557 views and 169 clicks.
 6      The next morning at 7:00 a.m., the staff in
 7  charge of search engine marketing and firm executives
 8  gathered on a call to ascertain how this incorrect ad
 9  made it into the software.  The managers were
10  instructed to interview the employee tasked with this
11  work that morning.  Through the interview with this
12  employee, it was determined that the ad going live was
13  an absolute mistake.  At that moment, this employee was
14  immediately taken off all projects for Clean Elections.
15      Through conversations with this employee,
16  it was uncovered that they had conducted an assessment
17  of search terms for Clean Elections.  These assessments
18  are common because it's their job to continuously
19  improve exposure awareness on behalf of our client
20  campaigns.
21      Through this assessment, they concluded
22  that using the names of specific candidates and the
23  term "defend" would generate more views and clicks for
24  the topic of debates.  The recommendation founded in
25  this thinking was simultaneously created in the Google

09:47:22-09:48:40 Page 16

 1  search software on the employee's desktop; however,
 2  instead of the sample ad remaining in draft mode, it
 3  was mistakenly set to live mode.
 4      Subsequently, the written recommendation
 5  with this new approach was never formally presented to
 6  the Clean Elections staff.  As a result, the word
 7  choice and the information in this ad had not been
 8  authorized by Clean Elections staff nor the designated
 9  RIESTER account manager.
10      Once this ad was in the software and had
11  been set to live mode, it went undetected because it
12  blended into other search ads that were running for
13  Clean Elections.  In the employee's mind, this
14  particular ad was not yet in live mode because they had
15  not yet realized their mistake.
16      As a result of this incident, the firm will
17  be changing processes as follows:  When the media team
18  has an idea on improving the performance of an ad, a
19  search engine marketing optimization recommendation,
20  including sample ads, will be presented to Clean
21  Elections staff for review in a formal written
22  recommendation and for discussion but will now have a
23  signature line for Clean Elections to sign providing
24  their authorization.
25      If the recommendation is approved, the

09:48:41-09:49:51 Page 17

 1  document will be signed by Clean Elections staff.  If
 2  the recommendation is not approved, it will not be
 3  signed.  RIESTER's account manager will then determine
 4  the need and the timeline for a new recommendation for
 5  formal review.  Only when Clean Elections signs a new
 6  recommendation will these ads be added to the search
 7  software by media team for activation.
 8      In addition, RIESTER will provide a weekly
 9  report of the ad performance of every search term to
10  Clean Elections staff.  The firm will also provide
11  Clean Elections staff log-in access to the search
12  engine software so that, at any time, they can log in
13  and see the search engine marketing -- marketing terms.
14      Again, we want to apologize and stress how
15  rare this situation is.  RIESTER has been providing
16  Google search advertising since it has been available,
17  and this is the first mistake like this that we have
18  ever encountered.  We appreciate the collaboration with
19  you, with Tom, with Gina and the whole staff to
20  formulate stronger processes and to assure this never
21  happens again.
22      And that concludes my -- my formal remarks.
23  I'd defer to Tom on how you'd like to handle
24  follow-ups.
25      MR. COLLINS: Well, I think -- I think that

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(4) Pages 14 - 17



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

09:49:54-09:51:31 Page 18

 1  the first thing, you know, I want to say is I do
 2  appreciate the fact that the RIESTER senior staff got
 3  on top of this as soon as Gina notified them.  I think
 4  that was -- I think that was helpful to halting the ad,
 5  first of all, and then -- and then -- and then being
 6  able to get to at least a place where we know what
 7  happened with the ad and then -- and then -- and then
 8  be able to talk, at least, in general terms about a
 9  process going forward by, you know, within a week.  And
10  so I appreciate that.
11      I also believe that the company and its
12  members are sincerely concerned and apologetic about
13  this.  I think that when the Commission -- when the
14  voter education staff vets State-approved vendors for
15  voter education-type activities, you know, we look for
16  certain things, including, you know, track record
17  working with the State and reliability and the approach
18  to trying to get the message out to voters about how
19  they can participate.  And that was -- part of that was
20  the main -- that was really the driving reason for us
21  working with RIESTER for the last two years.
22      And so I would only say that, I mean, if
23  there are questions that are unanswered in terms of --
24  in terms of the Commission or if you would like to hear
25  more about specific actions that will be -- that we're

09:51:34-09:52:32 Page 19

 1  going to be undertaking going forward, you know, now is
 2  your time to do that.  And I don't have anything more
 3  to add than what -- than that.
 4      COMMISSIONER CHAN: I have a question,
 5  Mr. Chairman.
 6      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Go ahead, Commissioner
 7  Chan.
 8      COMMISSIONER CHAN: Mr. Chairman,
 9  Christina, thank you so much for being here, and I
10  appreciate the tone because I -- when Tom notified us
11  of what had had happened, I was -- I was not happy that
12  it had occurred.  And I know mistakes happen, but of
13  course, campaigns -- and I know the campaign is here
14  today to speak about this.  I've never been involved,
15  really, with a campaign, but having been in elections,
16  I know how seriously these things affect candidates.
17  And so I was very concerned.
18      And I also appreciate -- you know, I want
19  to echo what Tom said that, especially seeing the
20  timeline, that everybody was available, working on it
21  late at night, working on it early in the morning to
22  try to fix it and then address the problem that allowed
23  it to happen.
24      My question is -- because I don't know how
25  this all works technically, but if the -- how does this

09:52:37-09:53:44 Page 20

 1  really address the mistake that happened with regard
 2  to -- because the employee, apparently, didn't do it on
 3  purpose, so to speak, like, they knew there was a
 4  process for somebody above them to review and then
 5  approve before it went live, but they mistakenly let it
 6  go live?  Is that what happened?
 7      So how does the new process address that,
 8  or is it going to be -- is that able to be addressed, I
 9  guess?  I mean, how do you prevent a mistake like that
10  from happening if an employee has the authority to make
11  it go live on their own?
12      MS. BORREGO: I think what will happen is
13  that that -- the employee will not have that -- that
14  authority.  It would be --
15      COMMISSIONER CHAN: Okay.  So that's
16  possible, to take that authority away from a user?
17      MS. BORREGO: Right.  Right.  And the
18  copy -- the information, the words that are selected
19  need to be run and collaborated -- our account manager
20  would be responsible for assuring that the word choice
21  is correct.
22      COMMISSIONER CHAN: Okay.  And then, you
23  know, from what I heard as far as our voter education
24  folks, then, also having access to what is live, I
25  guess.

09:53:44-09:54:44 Page 21

 1      MS. BORREGO: Yes.
 2      COMMISSIONER CHAN: That will be helpful as
 3  well because they'll be able to be even more in the
 4  loop as far as what's out there on the -- on the web.
 5      MS. BORREGO: Yes.  I think it's an
 6  additional layer of quality control and just
 7  transparency.
 8      COMMISSIONER CHAN: Okay.
 9      MS. BORREGO: So we're very comfortable
10  with providing that access.
11      COMMISSIONER CHAN: Thank you.
12      MR. COLLINS: And if I could just add on to
13  Christina's answer, Mr. Chairman, Commissioner Chan,
14  we're -- you know, Gina has been working with the
15  RIESTER staff to look at ads that are out there and
16  identify any other ads that, while not controversial or
17  not within the -- you know, not within this
18  particularly acute problem that might not have gone
19  through the process, to just make sure we've got that
20  all under control.
21      So -- and we appreciate, you know, RIESTER
22  getting us that data so we can -- so we can go over it
23  ourselves, and that's something that Gina has been
24  doing over the course of the last week.  So that's
25  been, I think, very helpful in starting the process of

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(5) Pages 18 - 21



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

09:54:46-09:56:12 Page 22

 1  exactly what Christina is talking about.
 2      COMMISSIONER KIMBLE: Mr. Chairman?
 3      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Commissioner Kimble, go
 4  ahead.
 5      COMMISSIONER KIMBLE: Ms. Borrego, I think
 6  this kind of follows up on Commissioner Chan's
 7  question, but just reading through the reports you
 8  provide, I guess I was -- I was pretty surprised that
 9  an employee who you've had for five months and,
10  according to the report, did not grasp the true role
11  and responsibility of Clean Elections had the technical
12  ability to post something on his or her own without
13  anyone knowing.
14      That -- that seems to me at the crux of the
15  problem, and I just want to make sure that there's some
16  kind of a measures to prevent that technically from
17  happening, that someone who doesn't grasp the role and
18  responsibility of Clean Elections is not going to be
19  just on their own posting something.
20      MS. BORREGO: Right.  So within the agency,
21  the account manager is the person that is the
22  gatekeeper for all work.  And so his misunderstanding
23  of the brand -- what we would call your brand, your --
24  you as an organization, was evident after this was
25  written.  So the -- his understanding -- his lack of

09:56:18-09:57:04 Page 23

 1  understanding was -- was missed, I guess, but the --
 2  within the organization, there will be checks and
 3  balances as far as information going live.
 4      COMMISSIONER KIMBLE: Okay.
 5      COMMISSIONER PATON: I have --
 6      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Just -- go ahead,
 7  Commissioner Paton.
 8      COMMISSIONER PATON: So is there a way
 9  physically that somebody can't punch that button, I
10  guess?  Is that basically what you're saying?
11      MS. BORREGO: Right.  I think -- I don't
12  know, Tricia, if you want to come up here and sort of
13  explain how the software -- it's really a matter of
14  toggling over a button and not, like, hovering --
15  hovering over a button.
16      COMMISSIONER PATON: I mean, we're not
17  technical people as far as --
18      MS. BORREGO: Yes.
19      MS. KASHIMA: So, Chairman, members of the
20  commission, yes.
21      MS. THOMAS: Please give your name --
22      MS. KASHIMA: There's a way --
23      MS. THOMAS: Excuse me.  Please give your
24  name for the court reporter.
25      MS. KASHIMA: My name is Tricia Kashima.

09:57:05-09:58:10 Page 24

 1  I'm with RIESTER.  I'm the media director.
 2      So what will -- usually when we have this
 3  software, the draft edit -- it's like a drafting
 4  software that's allowed on your desktop, we will
 5  disallow the linking to the actual software live.  So
 6  that way when they do a draft, there's no way for them
 7  to actually link it to the account.  So it's just --
 8  it's just a program on the computer that's not
 9  connected to the internet.  It's just connected to the
10  computer.  There's no access to upload it to the Google
11  AdWords campaign.
12      CHAIRMAN MEYER: But here there was
13  somehow, right?
14      MS. KASHIMA: Typically --
15      CHAIRMAN MEYER: I think that's the
16  question is how -- how did that happen?  Was that
17  access supposed to be there?  And how do we know,
18  moving forward, how that issue is being addressed?  Is
19  that --
20      MS. KASHIMA: So, technically, people with
21  this job title and his amount of experience are allowed
22  access.  That's their job to go into the -- into
23  AdWords, into the platform and look at it, how the
24  information or how the campaign is pacing, basically.
25  So that is a technical part of their job, but because

09:58:13-09:59:13 Page 25

 1  of the sensitivity of the nature of what we're
 2  conducting here, we -- for anybody working on this
 3  account, we could disallow access, in general.
 4      MS. BORREGO: We will --
 5      MS. KASHIMA: We will.  Yes.
 6      MS. BORREGO: -- disallow acces.
 7      COMMISSIONER PATON: And for me --
 8      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Go ahead.
 9      COMMISSIONER PATON: I mean, that's --
10  because anybody could do a mistake like that.  I mean,
11  we all have posted stuff when we didn't really mean to,
12  but -- so physically, if they can't do it and it's only
13  the account manager or whatever, then, I mean, that
14  makes me feel a lot better.
15      MS. KASHIMA: Yes.  This is --
16  unfortunately, the nature of our business is, you know,
17  timeliness and how fast can we react.  So -- but we can
18  definitely restrict the access.
19      COMMISSIONER PATON: Thank you.
20      CHAIRMAN MEYER: I had a question on the --
21  I guess, the detection issue, the -- I guess, after the
22  mistake was made, it took a few weeks for this to come
23  to anyone's attention when we were put on notice by the
24  Ducey campaign.  So I know this is addressed in your
25  memo, and I was just kind of confused.  There's talk

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(6) Pages 22 - 25



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

09:59:17-10:00:37 Page 26

 1  about a bundling and they are viewed individually, I
 2  guess, but could you explain, like, moving forward, how
 3  does something like this get detected sooner.
 4      MS. BORREGO: Right.
 5      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Taken down sooner.
 6      MS. BORREGO: Yes.  So, Chairman, what's
 7  explained in the memo is that because there were active
 8  campaigns already in the system, that this ad sort of
 9  was blended into that -- that work, but as Tricia just
10  explained, moving forward on this particular -- on this
11  work, on this account, that will be disabled.  So -- so
12  this should not happen again.  So any campaigns that
13  are -- that are -- there will be an additional layer of
14  what campaigns are actually live.
15      I think you started by asking how did it --
16  how did it go undetected, and the answer is that it
17  blended into the other efforts that were already in the
18  system and it was flagged as -- just by the name of the
19  account, which is Clean Elections.  So -- and, in his
20  mind, because it wasn't intended to go live, it didn't
21  exist.  It wasn't -- it wasn't in the system, from his
22  perspective.
23      MR. COLLINS: Mr. Chairman, if I might, can
24  I ask -- may I ask a clarifying question on that point?
25  It sounds, like, I think -- is it an accurate analogy

10:00:40-10:01:52 Page 27

 1  to say that when you are buying SEM or Google AdWords
 2  type of things for the purpose of, you know, informing
 3  folks about debates and informing folks about whatever,
 4  you're buying it sort of in a bulk group?  You are
 5  putting out a bunch of words in a bulk.  And so if this
 6  is one line -- one -- you know, in one section of that
 7  bulk thing, it would go undetected until somebody saw
 8  that specific ad, potentially.
 9      Is that a correct analogy?
10      MS. BORREGO: Certainly.  I think so.
11      Would you -- I think you would --
12      MS. KASHIMA: So it's -- basically, when
13  we -- the campaigns are set up under a one-umbrella
14  campaign.  So when he accidentally uploaded it, it just
15  became an extension of the debates campaign which has
16  thousands of words in there.  And when we do -- when it
17  would be detected is when we pull a key word report,
18  which is not typically of the cadence of when we do
19  monitoring because it pulls tens of thousands of words,
20  but for this we can export it weekly and look at --
21  basically, flag and do a search on an Excel sheet on
22  how -- which words could be erroneous or flagged.
23      MR. COLLINS: And I think, Mr. Chairman,
24  Commissioners, one of the points -- I think -- I think
25  the thing -- the disconnect that, of course, concerns

10:01:57-10:03:20 Page 28

 1  us the most and I think will be remedied is that -- you
 2  know, and the memo speaks to this -- is that, you know,
 3  we were -- we did have a discussion with RIESTER about
 4  candidate names specifically because we understand that
 5  those are potentially good drivers of traffic to the
 6  debate site, but we -- and RIESTER acknowledges this
 7  that we specifically rejected that recommendation
 8  because we believe -- Gina and I believe firmly that --
 9  for the reasons that Commissioner Chan has already
10  cited, that when we get in the business of mentioning
11  candidate names, we get outside of what our -- what our
12  chief goal is, which is to inform voters about how to
13  participate, not to inform voters about, you know --
14  you know, what candidate is doing what.
15      So I think that the -- I think that that --
16  you know, that didn't communicate to this particular
17  staff member, but that is -- I think there's no
18  misunderstanding between us and the account -- the
19  account manager and the other members of the team that
20  we work with that has been unequivocally our position
21  on that issue.
22      CHAIRMAN MEYER: So, Tom, has the staff --
23  Clean Elections staff approved every proposed search or
24  ad from RIESTER before it goes live?  Is that the
25  process, or do they go ahead and post things just based

10:03:24-10:04:30 Page 29

 1  upon, sort of, the guidelines that you've given them?
 2      MR. COLLINS: I'd have to defer to Gina on
 3  the specifics of that, Mr. Chairman.
 4      MS. ROBERTS: Mr. Chairman, Commissioners,
 5  anything -- before anything goes live, Clean Elections
 6  staff does have to approve it, whether it's search,
 7  whether it's a print ad.  And usually, depending on the
 8  type of media we're talking about, we get verification
 9  of what was ran.  So, for example, if we run a print
10  ad, we get a tear sheet for that.  So that's actually a
11  tear -- our hard copy proof saying this has created the
12  message that you approved and this is the proof that it
13  ran.
14      For example, on social media, so if we have
15  an ad that we run on Facebook, we will get a
16  notification that your Facebook ad was approved.  We
17  can see what was submitted and then, also, we have
18  access to the platform that RIESTER utilizes to input
19  that.  So they utilize a platform called Hootsuite.  We
20  have our own user name and log-in.  So we can
21  periodically go in there and spot-check to make sure,
22  okay, this is what we agreed the final copy would be.
23      So my understanding is with AdWords now we
24  will also be given a user name and log-in so we can,
25  again, periodically go in there and review and

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(7) Pages 26 - 29



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

10:04:32-10:05:33 Page 30

 1  approve -- or excuse me.  It should already be approved
 2  if it's in there, but review just to make sure
 3  everything is what we agreed upon.  So we do --
 4  anything that comes to us, it must be approved before
 5  it is live, and usually we have a mechanism in there to
 6  go in and verify that that's the case.
 7      With search, we would usually get a
 8  spreadsheet of some sort to identify the key words that
 9  would work well, you know, what our -- what our voter
10  is looking for when they go to Google, what do they
11  type in, that type of thing.  And then, yes, we either
12  make edits or we approve it and then that is what is
13  made live.  So, absolutely, anything that is going to
14  be out there to the public and marketed, we have to
15  give formal approval on that.
16      MR. COLLINS: Mr. Chairman, may I ask one
17  question to Gina just to make clear for the -- for the
18  record?
19      In this particular case, this particular
20  item did not go through the Clean Elections staff for
21  approval.
22      Correct?
23      MS. ROBERTS: That is correct.  We
24  absolutely did not see any type of this language.  When
25  I was first notified about this, I completely thought

10:05:35-10:06:37 Page 31

 1  it was fake; it had the wrong date, the wrong tone.  We
 2  would never use a candidate name.  So it was -- it was
 3  a surprise.
 4      And I -- when I received the detailed
 5  instructions from -- or the detailed explanation from
 6  RIESTER about how this happened, it made it very clear
 7  to me, okay, this employee was new.  He was five months
 8  in, because my thought was I could not imagine that
 9  RIESTER would even supply us with this type of
10  recommendation knowing our brand, knowing the rules
11  that we have in place, that we don't ever utilize a
12  candidate name and how we work very hard to being
13  non-partisan.  So --
14      CHAIRMAN MEYER: And just -- I didn't ask
15  that question about assigning blame.  I'm just asking a
16  process question.
17      MR. COLLINS: No.  I understand.
18      CHAIRMAN MEYER: I don't think -- listen,
19  this is a mistake.  Everybody makes a mistake.  I make
20  mistakes every day.  I guess my process question is it
21  seems like the processes may be two ships passing in
22  the night here because I hear from the RIESTER folks
23  how we have -- we have these draft ads and some of them
24  are draft and then some of them are live and they're
25  kind of all in this same -- I don't know -- database,

10:06:42-10:07:51 Page 32

 1  for lack of a better word, where someone can click a
 2  button and that post is now live, where what I'm
 3  hearing from staff is before anything can go live, it
 4  needs to be approved by us.
 5      So my question is, why are we putting these
 6  draft posts and these live posts in the same bin?  We
 7  should be running them through a filter so there's no
 8  way anything over here on the draft side -- there's no
 9  way anyone can hit a button that would make that live
10  until it goes through the filter of Clean Elections and
11  now it's out on the other side.  Then we hit it live.
12  So that's why I asked the question, and that's kind of
13  the process.
14      Maybe that's too simplistic.  I don't know,
15  but does that make sense?  And I don't understand
16  why -- why these live and drafts are in the same bin.
17      COMMISSIONER PATTON: Ball game.
18      MS. ROBERTS: Mr. Chairman, I'll defer to
19  Tricia to talk a little bit more on that process.  And
20  if I could add to that, too, if we could verify, I seem
21  to recall in the response from RIESTER somewhere that
22  they would no longer keep pending or draft key words in
23  the system.  I think I recall reading that as well.
24  So, you know, removing that -- or ensuring that nothing
25  will be entered unless it's actually live, I think

10:07:54-10:09:00 Page 33

 1  would be part of the verification.
 2      And then, if I could also ask, too,
 3  Mr. Chairman, as they consider that response, I do know
 4  that they have to see what key words would work --
 5  would work the best for the client, too.  So maybe if
 6  we could get a response that how do we ensure that we
 7  do not have anything that is not live in the system
 8  ever so we don't have that mistake of triggering it but
 9  also ensuring that the client will still receive the
10  best recommendation that works within our normal -- our
11  normal process, our normal rules.
12      MS. KASHIMA: So I think working in the
13  editor form and not letting that program have access to
14  the internet at all will be the best way to do it,
15  because we use the editor feature in that platform
16  because Google has a set amount of standards of how
17  many text words you can have, how it's supposed -- how
18  it's supposed to lay out.  So when we -- when we want
19  to show your draft, we want to show you what it
20  actually looks like with the words and the URL.
21      And it actually helps us cost out the ad,
22  as well, to see, based on what we're inputting into the
23  ad, how many impressions we'll get, how much it will
24  actually cost because we want to make sure we're not
25  overspending or drastically underspending, that our ad

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(8) Pages 30 - 33



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

10:09:04-10:10:07 Page 34

 1  expenses are correct.
 2      So that's how we use that draft editor --
 3  AdWords editor for, but not letting it have access to
 4  the actual account, the live account is the best way to
 5  do it because we still need to utilize it for -- making
 6  sure that we are in Google standards for the ad, that
 7  they'll actually -- when we say it's ready to run, it
 8  will actually get run and not get rejected by Google.
 9      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Gina, does that -- did
10  they answer --
11      MS. ROBERTS: Yes.
12      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Okay.
13      Any other commissioners have any questions
14  or comments -- thank you very much for being here to
15  answer those questions.
16      COMMISSIONER CHAN: Well, Mr. Chairman,
17  just one brief one of Tom.
18      So are you -- you and Gina satisfied with
19  whatever changes are being made this will not happen
20  again?
21      MR. COLLINS: Well, like I said, the
22  buck -- the buck ultimately -- the buck ultimately
23  stops here with me.  And so if this happens again, you
24  know, you're in a position to be very critical of me.
25      I have a great deal of confidence that

10:10:14-10:11:46 Page 35

 1  based on both our past experience working with RIESTER
 2  and the -- and the kind of approach that they take to
 3  ensuring that our voter education materials stay within
 4  the boundaries that we want and achieve the goals we
 5  want of reaching voters and with the steps that have
 6  been outlined, that, yes, we should be able to avoid
 7  this.
 8      I'm confident that if it -- if it happens
 9  again, if something like this happens again, we won't
10  be here just with RIESTER being in a position to, you
11  know, just describe it.  We'll be here in a position
12  with me, essentially, saying that, you know, like I
13  said, this is -- that would be -- at that point, that
14  would be my responsibility that that happened.
15      And so -- so with that having been said, I
16  think we are in as good a position as we can be, given
17  all of the technical aspects of this.  And I know that
18  Gina and I are committed to ensuring that everything
19  that we put out is at the level of quality that you
20  know that we have tried to put into our Voter Education
21  Program, which we think is our -- the crown jewel of
22  what the Commission does, really, and we want to secure
23  that and keep that and make sure that that continues to
24  be an impartial and reliable source of information for
25  candidates.

10:11:46-10:12:50 Page 36

 1      So I think we're in the best place we can
 2  be given the circumstances, and so I do recommend we
 3  continue to move forward along the lines of the plan
 4  that RIESTER has outlined.  And -- and that's my view.
 5      MS. BORREGO: If I can just add,
 6  Mr. Chairman, you have our utmost commitment that this
 7  will never happen again as well.  Me and my colleagues,
 8  we have been very distressed.  This is a very
 9  important -- very important work for us personally.  We
10  believe so much in the mission of the Commission.  So
11  you have our commitment that this -- this will never
12  happen again as well.
13      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Thank you very much, and
14  thank you for coming here and answering questions.  We
15  very much appreciate it -- both of you.
16      Tom, I believe you had mentioned some of
17  the Ducey campaign members are here.
18      MR. COLLINS: Yes.  This is JP Twist, who
19  is the campaign manager for the Ducey campaign.  I
20  think he has some comments, and maybe -- and I'm not
21  sure.  I don't know that we have questions for him, but
22  I think he had some -- at least had some statements to
23  make.
24      And so I would just allow him to -- if he
25  could -- JP, if you could introduce yourself for the

10:12:53-10:13:45 Page 37

 1  record and for the court reporter so we get it all --
 2      MR. TWIST: Sure.
 3      MR. COLLINS: -- down.
 4      MR. TWIST: Sure.
 5      Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  For the record,
 6  my name is JP Twist.  I'm here with my colleague Sara
 7  Mueller.  Sara and I together, over the last four
 8  years, are in charge of running the Governor's
 9  political operation here in Arizona.  We are here today
10  on our official capacity.  I'm the campaign manager for
11  the Governor's reelection campaign.
12      I don't think I need to say anything about
13  what's been said here.  Obviously, we object to the
14  tone and how the ads were run.  The reason why I wanted
15  to come here today on behalf of our campaign is just to
16  thank the Commission, particularly your staff, for the
17  quickness that you guys moved to make sure that these
18  ads were removed and the professionalism that -- that
19  they shared with our campaign over communicating,
20  working late at night to get this resolved and
21  following through with us every step of the way to let
22  us know exactly what happened.
23      That means a lot to us, and I think in this
24  day and age it's not something that we typically come
25  to expect.  So it was important for us to come just to

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(9) Pages 34 - 37



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

10:13:47-10:14:46 Page 38

 1  say it meant a lot to us that your staff showed the
 2  professionalism that they did.  And that's it.  That's
 3  all I wanted to share, that we very much appreciate
 4  taking swift action, and we look forward to continuing
 5  to work with you guys -- not in this circumstance, but
 6  again, the professionalism was just quite remarkable.
 7  And I felt compelled to come and say that.
 8      So thank you.  And I'm happy to answer your
 9  questions, but I just wanted to say that.
10      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Thank you very much.
11      MR. TWIST: Thank you.
12      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Thank you.
13      And, Tom and Gina, thank you.
14      Any further comments on that?
15      MR. COLLINS: I don't -- I don't believe --
16  Ryan, you don't have -- you're not -- you're good?
17  Everybody?  And -- everybody good?  Gina, good?
18      Does anybody else want to comment on this
19  item?  No?  I think that closes out this item,
20  Mr. Chairman.
21      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Okay.  All right.  On to
22  Agenda Item Number V, which is discussion and possible
23  action on legal matters involving the Clean Elections
24  Act and/or the Clean Elections Commission.  We have
25  three matters here stated.  I guess we'll just take

10:14:51-10:16:07 Page 39

 1  them in order.
 2      MR. COLLINS: Yeah.  So --
 3      CHAIRMAN MEYER: I know Item Number A is
 4  Arizona Advocacy, et al., versus Reagan.
 5      MR. COLLINS: Yeah.  So what -- there's
 6  really -- there's sort of more than three items because
 7  the one is all litigation related to HCR 2007, which
 8  involves two -- there's at least two matters involved
 9  there.
10      With respect to the -- with respect to
11  the -- well, Mary is here to answer any specific legal
12  questions and, obviously, you have the option to go
13  into executive session, if you so desire.
14      The Arizona Advocacy case is now -- I think
15  the briefing on summary judgment is now closed.  I
16  think we got you the last brief that was filed by the
17  State and GRRC.  Both filed -- both the Secretary of
18  State and GRRC filed briefs.  You have those for your
19  perusal.  I think we have -- and I don't have an oral
20  argument, though, however, for a little while, but
21  that's -- so that's there.
22      That case, just for everybody's
23  understanding, involves Voter Protection Act and
24  Arizona -- and other Arizona constitutional law
25  challenges to SB 1516.  We were in the case for two

10:16:12-10:17:47 Page 40

 1  reasons:  One, AZAN objects to our rule that allows
 2  clean -- you know, because of the contribution
 3  definition change expressly allows candidates who are
 4  running clean to work with political parties if their
 5  nominee is just like any other candidate.  And then, on
 6  the other hand -- on the other side, they are
 7  supportive of our rule on political campaign --
 8  political committees and a rule we have in place that
 9  deals with what amount to de facto political committees
10  and whether or not they owe a filing enforceable by
11  penalty under Article 2 of the Clean Elections Act.
12      That -- those are really the -- that's
13  really the thrust of their -- of their complaint is the
14  Voter Protection Act and then Article 7 of the Arizona
15  Constitution which provides specifically that
16  information that is related to campaigns shall be --
17  well, the legislature shall pass laws that require the
18  disclosure of contributors, the disclosure of
19  expenditure and the publicity of those.
20      And our position is that 1516 did not do
21  that and our rule, therefore, is a -- is a correct
22  interpretation of the constitution.  So we are sort of
23  straddling the two sides of the argument that AZAN is
24  bringing while, the Secretary of State and GRRC are
25  sort of -- they are really focused on the -- our

10:17:51-10:19:23 Page 41

 1  definition of de facto political committee, and -- and
 2  that's sort of where things are, to summarize.
 3      I'd like to try to move as quickly as I can
 4  through the public portion of this.  HCR 2007, there
 5  are two lawsuits.  One, we filed, and we just filed --
 6  you have a copy of the -- we have a very expedited
 7  summary judgment calendar on that.  We filed our motion
 8  for summary judgment yesterday, which you have a copy
 9  of.  We -- legislative council will file their
10  response -- their cross motion on Monday and then -- I
11  think, and then we'll have responses.  And I'm not --
12  and, again, I have forgotten what the hearing dates are
13  on these things, but we'll get you those as quickly as
14  possible.
15      That, again, you know, it reflects -- you
16  know, we sent a letter -- I sent a letter to "leg"
17  council outlining many of these flaws that are in the
18  complaint.  So the complaint should look familiar in
19  the sense that we have put the legislative council on
20  notice that these were going to be legal deficiencies
21  and they did not solve that problem.  So we are -- we
22  are -- feel like this -- you know, we've already made
23  the decision to file a suit, but we are working to
24  expedite the resolution of it through the expedited
25  briefing as much as we can.

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(10) Pages 38 - 41



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

10:19:24-10:20:55 Page 42

 1      The second HCR 2007 suit which was brought
 2  by former Commissioner Hoffman and Commissioner Chan in
 3  her personal capacity -- so can I call you Amy Chan? --
 4  Lewis Hoffman and Amy Chan, as opposed to Commissioner
 5  Chan -- and they're represented by the Center for Law
 6  in the Public Interest.  The judge in that case -- it's
 7  a single subject case.  Basically, the constitution, at
 8  least as I had understood it, requires legislative
 9  bills to contain but one subject.
10      And we believe -- we lobbied during the
11  session that this combination of doing stuff to
12  participating candidates and combining it with the
13  Governor's Regulatory Review Council was a single
14  subject violation.
15      The judge in this case -- the Superior
16  Court judge in this case, of all the ways that she
17  could have ruled, she ruled that legislative
18  referendums which are passed by the legislature
19  pursuant to Article 4, they are enactments of the
20  legislature pursuant to the -- Article 4 of the Arizona
21  Constitution are somehow completely exempt from the
22  single subject requirement, despite the fact that the
23  legislature has to vote for them like any other bill
24  and despite the fact that the constitution specifically
25  says that such bills are not subject to gubernatorial

10:21:00-10:22:28 Page 43

 1  veto.
 2      Nevertheless, the judge determined that
 3  this was -- this was a -- that it simply doesn't apply
 4  at all.  So you can have a bill -- apparently, you can
 5  have a referendum that, you know, can merge, you know,
 6  standards for cattle ranching with standards for school
 7  buses and that's perfectly fine.  And I -- so, you
 8  know, notwithstanding the fact that's not our case, I
 9  think that the decision -- personally I think the
10  decision was -- is incorrect.
11      The Center for Law has indicated that they
12  are filing an appeal and -- well, I don't know.  I
13  don't know.  I mean, I don't think -- and -- and we'll
14  see what happens after that.
15      If you have questions specifically on
16  anything the Commission might or might not want to do
17  on that, that, if any of these, would be the one thing
18  I would think you -- I'm not recommending an executive
19  session, but that may be one thing you might want to
20  have of all these.
21      And then, finally, we get to our LFAF
22  friends, the Legacy Foundation Action Fund from Iowa.
23  I don't know why, Mr. Chairman, you haven't been able
24  to pull some of the -- your strings in Iowa to resolve
25  this, but in any event, we have cross motions to

10:22:33-10:23:45 Page 44

 1  dismiss there.
 2      We sued to enforce our order and demand
 3  both payment and the filing of reports that still
 4  haven't been filed.  They countersued to say somehow
 5  they have the right to relitigate the issues they
 6  already have foregone the opportunity to litigate and
 7  had the Supreme Court tell them they've foregone the
 8  opportunity to litigate, but nevertheless, they are
 9  litigating.
10      So that case is, frankly, frustrating and
11  border -- it's unbelievable to me, just in my -- just,
12  if I might, but it is what it is.
13      So those are the cases.  I don't believe
14  that any of them, other than the HCR 2007, would be --
15  would be -- necessarily require an executive session.
16  And that's only if you have questions on anything that
17  I've talked about.
18      Mary is here in the event that that -- that
19  you -- that anyone wants to go into executive session,
20  but again, I don't think it's a priority.
21      CHAIRMAN MEYER: So the HCR 2007 cases,
22  there's two of them.
23      MR. COLLINS: Yeah.
24      CHAIRMAN MEYER: The one we filed, we have
25  just filed the motion for summary judgment.

10:23:47-10:24:34 Page 45

 1      MR. COLLINS: Yeah.
 2      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Have we gotten an answer
 3  on that yet?
 4      MS. O'GRADY: You want me to give the
 5  deadlines?
 6      MR. COLLINS: Yeah.  That would be good.
 7      MS. O'GRADY: The State's --
 8      MR. COLLINS: Thank you, Mary.
 9      MS. O'GRADY: The "leg" council's response
10  is due Monday.  Our reply is due Wednesday, and oral
11  argument is next Friday at 1:30.  So it's expedited
12  because the printing deadline is in August.  So we
13  wanted to leave time both for expedited Supreme Court
14  review, if necessary, and for legislative council to
15  remedy the problems if we prevail.
16      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Did they file an answer?
17      MS. O'GRADY: They didn't file an answer.
18  We are getting right to summary judgment motions.
19      CHAIRMAN MEYER: I'm just curious have we
20  gleaned any defenses from the answer, but it doesn't
21  sound like that.
22      And then the second case is Amy Chan's
23  case.
24      Is that -- that decision has been made and
25  now you are deciding whether or not to appeal?

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(11) Pages 42 - 45



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

10:24:36-10:25:27 Page 46

 1      MS. O'GRADY: I can update that if -- there
 2  has been an -- they did appeal.
 3      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Okay.
 4      MS. O'GRADY: And there's a briefing
 5  schedule set.
 6      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Okay.
 7      MS. O'GRADY: And that, too, is on an
 8  expedited basis at the Supreme Court, and that will be
 9  conferenced and decided late August.
10      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Okay.
11      Commissioner Kimble?
12      COMMISSIONER KIMBLE: Mr. Chairman, I have
13  one question, Mary.
14      The first case, the one we filed -- and I
15  don't think this has to be in executive session, but
16  should we prevail, do we have some proposed wording to
17  submit to the judge that we would like, or how is this
18  going to proceed?
19      MS. O'GRADY: We've identified the
20  particular problems.
21      COMMISSIONER KIMBLE: Right.
22      MS. O'GRADY: And so our hope is that the
23  Court agrees with us that those are, indeed, problems.
24  And so some of them, the language fix is evident from
25  the description of the problem, but we didn't say make

10:25:31-10:26:38 Page 47

 1  legislative council say this.  We said make them --
 2  it's wrong because they omitted this information or --
 3  so it sort of -- it's evident by the nature of the
 4  problem what the solution is, for the most part.
 5      COMMISSIONER KIMBLE: Okay.  Because I know
 6  previously it was --
 7      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Careful we don't discuss
 8  anything that we discussed in executive session.
 9      COMMISSIONER KIMBLE: No, I don't think
10  this was.
11      It -- other -- other ballot descriptions
12  are substantially lengthier than this one.  I mean,
13  it's not like there's a hard word limit that this one
14  is up against as written by the legislative council.
15      MS. O'GRADY: That's right.  There were two
16  others approved that they, and this is --
17      COMMISSIONER KIMBLE: Okay.
18      MS. O'GRADY: -- the shortest of the three.
19      COMMISSIONER KIMBLE: So would it be
20  advantageous to have something ready to -- and tell me
21  if you think this needs to be discussed in executive
22  session, but to have something ready to say this is --
23  to the judge -- this is what we think it should read?
24      MS. O'GRADY: Well, I think if we're going
25  to get beyond what's in public record already, I'd feel

10:26:41-10:27:51 Page 48

 1  more comfortable in executive session in terms of, you
 2  know, our legal strategies of what we might do in the
 3  future in court.
 4      COMMISSIONER KIMBLE: Okay.  Well, I don't
 5  know that it's -- that it's worth that but --
 6      CHAIRMAN MEYER: So, just from a timing
 7  perspective, this is the last chance we have to discuss
 8  that before we get a ruling, most likely.
 9      Correct?
10      MR. COLLINS: That is correct.  It's also,
11  just on the HCR 2007 -- and I don't know how -- what we
12  would do with Commissioner Chan's role there, but it's
13  also the last opportunity we'll have to discuss if --
14  and this is a big if -- the Commission sees the need to
15  file an amicus on any issues related to the description
16  of Clean Elections or other -- other kinds of -- I
17  don't want to get more detailed than that, but other
18  kinds of things that the Commission itself needs to
19  speak to, if any.  This is our -- this is our last
20  opportunity to do that, too.
21      CHAIRMAN MEYER: All right.  Well, I think
22  we should go into executive session.
23      Anyone -- I'll make that motion.
24      Any comments from --
25      COMMISSIONER CHAN: I'll second the motion.

10:27:52-10:45:56 Page 49

 1      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Okay.  I move we go into
 2  executive session.  Commissioner Chan has seconded that
 3  motion.
 4      All in favor of going into executive
 5  session say aye.
 6      (Chorus of ayes.)
 7      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Any opposed?
 8      (No response.)
 9      CHAIRMAN MEYER: Okay.  Motion carries 4-0.
10  We are in executive session, and I'd ask the attendees
11  to please step out.
12      Thank you.
13      (The following section of the meeting is in
14  executive session and bound under separate cover.)
15      * * * * *
16      (End of executive session.  Public meeting
17  resumes at 10:45 a.m.)
18      ACTING CHAIRMAN KIMBLE: Commissioner Meyer
19  had to leave because of a scheduling conflict.  We're
20  out of executive session, and the public portion of the
21  July 19th meeting of the Citizens Clean Elections
22  Commission is resuming with Item VI:  Discussion and
23  possible action on recap of Arizona voter crisis report
24  and related issues.
25      Tom?

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(12) Pages 46 - 49



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

10:45:57-10:47:17 Page 50

 1      MR. COLLINS: Yes.  Commissioners, this
 2  is -- this is a -- the good news -- good news/bad news.
 3  The bad news is not enough people are voting, and in
 4  the future it looks like there may be fewer people
 5  voting.  The good news is that this particular project,
 6  in working with the Morrison Institute and, actually,
 7  working with RIESTER, because RIESTER really did help
 8  us pull this together, and then -- and then, obviously,
 9  Gina and her staff helped us make this into an event
10  that I really think was one of the best events that
11  we've hosted.
12      We had 70 people there live.  I have some
13  metrics on the media coverage.  We got coverage on
14  television stations from Phoenix to Tucson, Channel 15
15  here, channel -- a number of -- a number of Tucson
16  channels.  I don't know.  I don't know if we have any
17  metrics on the social engagement.  We did see a lot of
18  social engagement.
19      Ryan, I'm looking at you.  I don't know if
20  we --
21      MR. WHEELOCK: We do have some metrics.
22      MR. COLLINS: Okay.  Okay.  That will be --
23  that might -- that will be great to add here, but while
24  Ryan is looking for that, what I'd like to do is
25  play -- we put together -- RIESTER -- working with

10:47:20-10:52:32 Page 51

 1  RIESTER we put together an intro video for the -- for
 2  the live event that's now on our website.  And Alec has
 3  done a great job of featuring all of these items on our
 4  website.  It really looks sharp.  And we're really
 5  proud of it, but we'd like to -- without further ado.
 6      MS. ROBERTS: And, Commissioners,
 7  unfortunately, due to the power outage we had last
 8  week, this is the only TV that we have that is
 9  operating right now.  So my apologies.  You'll have to
10  turn.
11      (Video playing.)
12      MR. COLLINS: So that video aired before
13  the Morrison Institute presented their findings, and I
14  think it helped set the tone for what we're -- what
15  we're looking at, which is, you know, what are -- what
16  is the status now and what we're looking at in the
17  future.  And that's within the legal framework that we
18  have -- that we have to work with.  I mean, in other
19  words, some people want different laws changed, but
20  that wasn't the purpose of this report.
21      The purpose of this report was to look at
22  where we are now, and the other purpose of this report,
23  from a voter education perspective, is we have
24  specifically looked at -- and Gina has briefed you on
25  about our specific work on independent voters, our

10:52:35-10:53:46 Page 52

 1  specific work on Millennials that we've worked on for
 2  the last several years.  So I think that the report
 3  also validates, from a research perspective, the work
 4  that the Commission has been doing.
 5      I also wanted to kind of describe the scene
 6  at the -- that we had.  And if you-all want me to --
 7  you know, if you get tired of listening to me, let
 8  me -- let me know, but we're very -- I'm thrilled about
 9  this even.  And I have a lot to say about it but, you
10  know, the event itself, once the research was done --
11  and Commissioner Chan and I were on the panel.  We
12  assured that there was ideological diversity on the
13  panel.
14      We had Paul Avelar, who is the managing
15  partner of the Institute for Justice's chapter here in
16  Arizona was on the panel with us.  And he has different
17  views about -- about these results, the results of the
18  research for sure, but I thought he brought a very good
19  perspective because it's important, when we do research
20  like this, that we be -- they'd be able to withstand
21  and take criticism directly.  And so we brought that
22  into the process, and I think that was important.
23      I also -- I also think that -- you know, we
24  talk a lot about civility in politics right now, and I
25  thought that the panel was an example of -- you can

10:53:49-10:55:22 Page 53

 1  talk a lot about civility, but the panel was an example
 2  of people who have wildly different ideological views
 3  who had a very healthy and -- and meaningful, I
 4  thought, discussion and actually came to agree on
 5  certain issues around the problems with respect to
 6  people turning out to vote.  And I really -- I'm really
 7  proud of the fact that that's the kind of discussion
 8  that we had at the event.
 9      We will be doing two more of these reports
10  and events.  The next one is on independents in August,
11  and that will be an event up in Flagstaff.  And then
12  we'll be in Tucson in the general election, providing
13  information on resources for voters.
14      Also -- I also -- just a couple of quick
15  other mentions.  One of Morrison researchers and I were
16  on Arizona Horizon, which is the local PBS equivalent
17  to Arizona Illustrated -- if Arizona Illustrated exists
18  anymore -- on the night of the event.  And, actually,
19  while this meeting is going on, David Daugherty, who is
20  the -- is also the -- is one of the authors of this
21  report, and I pre-taped an interview with KJZZ, which
22  is -- which aired literally while we were meeting
23  today, again, talking about the report and the
24  findings.
25      And I think that -- you know, I think that

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(13) Pages 50 - 53



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

10:55:24-10:56:47 Page 54

 1  there's some really important messages here and some
 2  really important points that I think that we are
 3  really -- with the work that Gina and both her team --
 4  internal team and external team are addressing.
 5      You know, Millennials, for example -- I
 6  keep going back to this example -- for the most part
 7  grew up in the Great Recession, right?  They grew up
 8  with different economic opportunities than Baby Boomers
 9  grew up with or that even Gen X'ers grew up with.  And
10  so, you know, the disconnect -- we have 45 percent of
11  them aren't even registered to vote, but part of the
12  disconnect is they have different issues.
13      They face higher -- higher education costs
14  which changed, you know, the decision factors.  They
15  are putting off buying homes longer than -- than prior
16  generations because of that financial thing.  I know
17  that's something you've probably seen, Commissioner
18  Paton -- putting off having families, all of that
19  stuff.  They have just a whole different group of
20  issues and, as we all know, they have an entirely
21  different media landscape that they interact with.
22      So with our 18 in 2018 campaign, for
23  example, and the way we interact with Snapchat and
24  Shazam, the way we, through the voter dashboard, have
25  individualized and revolutionized, I believe, the

10:56:51-10:58:07 Page 55

 1  ability to get all the information that you need in
 2  order to vote and know who is -- who you are voting
 3  for, I think those kinds of steps that are bringing
 4  individualized information to voters really works for
 5  the Millennial voter who sees themselves as an
 6  individual and may see themselves as not having
 7  their -- their issues met.
 8      So we're doing the work to reach those
 9  voters.  At the same time, with the candidate statement
10  pamphlet, we are continuing to reach out to those
11  voters who either are not computer savvy or live in
12  areas of the state, particularly the rural areas and
13  many of the -- many reservation areas where there's
14  simply not the connectivity.
15      And so that the candidate statement
16  pamphlet, which, you know, we have changed and made
17  more effective by -- by not including 300 pages of
18  people you aren't going to be able to vote for, but
19  we've made that more effective.  And we continue to be
20  the only state agency that provides that kind of
21  information in both English and Spanish to try to -- to
22  try to make sure that we maintain that integrity and
23  compliance with the Voting Rights Act.
24      So those are some of my takeaways.  I don't
25  know if -- Gina, if there's others that you would add

10:58:11-10:59:13 Page 56

 1  on the spot, I know.
 2      MS. ROBERTS: Sure.
 3      MR. COLLINS: If you -- you're welcome to.
 4      MS. ROBERTS: I think you have covered them
 5  a lot of it -- most of the important pieces.
 6      MR. COLLINS: Okay.
 7      And, Ryan, did you have some -- some social
 8  data?
 9      MR. WHEELOCK: Yeah, we have the -- do you
10  want me to just go ahead and come up?
11      MR. COLLINS: Yeah, if you can.
12      MR. WHEELOCK: Yeah.
13      MR. COLLINS: You have to introduce
14  yourself for the record whether you like it or not.
15      MR. WHEELOCK: My name is Ryan Wheelock.
16  Commissioners, thank you.
17      The event earned about 506,000 online
18  impressions.  We pulled this report yesterday.  It had
19  six TV mentions equalling about 104,000 impressions for
20  the TV mentions, and it got picked up in Prescott and
21  Tucson.  For social media, the live tweeting garnered
22  700 -- or 7,343 impressions on the day of the event.
23  The day after the event, there was an additional 5,711
24  impressions.  There were 329 engagements on Twitter, 22
25  new followers on Twitter and 12 mentions, and the

10:59:17-11:00:40 Page 57

 1  Facebook event reached 2.5000 people and garnered 65
 2  responses.  It was a great event.
 3      ACTING CHAIRMAN KIMBLE: Thank you.
 4      Anything else, Tom?
 5      MR. COLLINS: No, no.  I think -- I think
 6  that -- I think that that about captures it.  We're
 7  looking forward to the additional parts of this
 8  process, and we think that -- you know, we had a rich a
 9  discussion when we decided to go ahead with this
10  project, and I think that this first go around, I will
11  say, from my perspective, the whole package, it
12  exceeded my expectations both in terms of reach -- oh,
13  do you want to -- oh, okay -- both in terms of reach
14  and in terms of attendance and in terms of value to our
15  underlying Voter Education Program in terms of showing
16  the connection between what we're doing and what the
17  numbers show.
18      So I'm really proud of this, the work that
19  everybody involved in this did, and I just want to
20  thank -- you know, thank Gina and Christina and Ryan
21  for their help and, of course, the Morrison Institute
22  for drafting the report.  And it's just something we're
23  just -- we're just super proud of.  That's all I have
24  to say.
25      ACTING CHAIRMAN KIMBLE: It's a very

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(14) Pages 54 - 57



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

11:00:40-11:02:02 Page 58

 1  impressive report.  And I can't claim to be a
 2  Millennial, but I am a political independent.  And I'm
 3  disturbed by looking here that of the 1.2 million
 4  independents, 458,000 vote -- did not vote at all in
 5  2016, and that's very discouraging.
 6      MR. COLLINS: You know, and to that point,
 7  Commissioner Kimble, we talked about that and that
 8  has -- there's about three different -- three different
 9  takeaways I have from that.  First, the Commission has
10  in the past focused on independent voters and as part
11  of our campaigns, our efforts to get people to be aware
12  of their voting rights.  I'm not sure what we have
13  planned -- if we have that planned for this year.
14      MS. ROBERTS: We're planning it now.
15      MR. COLLINS: We are doing that now.  And
16  what we found in Maricopa County the first time we did
17  this was there was -- even the number of -- the
18  absolute number of independent voters remained quite
19  low.  The increase -- percentage increase was
20  significant.  So there is some hope there.
21      The real issue -- the other -- on the other
22  hand, the issue with independents is partially driven
23  by the fact obviously many independents don't want to
24  be part of a party, but the parties are key to driving
25  turnout.  And what the parties have done, I think, over

11:02:04-11:03:15 Page 59

 1  time is decided who their voters are and focused on
 2  those folks.  So they're not necessarily going to focus
 3  on an independent unless they see some record of that
 4  independent voting in a particular primary or whatever.
 5      And I think that is -- that may work for
 6  them strategically, but it ultimately has potential
 7  problems for the overall public good in the context of
 8  a democratic republic.  So, you know, communicating to
 9  voters that they -- independent voters they have the
10  opportunity to vote in the primaries is a very -- is a
11  very important part of that.
12      The other irony is, you know, and one of
13  the -- one of the things that was brought out was, you
14  know, some criticism for whether or not -- you know,
15  45 -- 45 percent of people who are either eligible to
16  vote but didn't register or didn't -- or chose not to
17  vote at all in the 2016 election, maybe that's just not
18  such a big deal.
19      People don't want to vote, but there's a
20  catch-22 there because if you believe that it's okay
21  that people aren't going to vote and then you end up
22  with city councils and board of supervisors and other
23  entities that might not be representative, you end up
24  with more legislation at the ballot box because people
25  get frustrated with the legislature and they take out

11:03:18-11:04:35 Page 60

 1  initiatives.  And folks -- the very folks who claim
 2  they don't want people to vote also don't want
 3  governments by the ballot box, but that's the result of
 4  the fact that we're not getting the best cross section
 5  of voters.
 6      So there's a real catch-22 there for folks
 7  who say, oh, this isn't really a crisis because if you
 8  don't think it's a crisis now, it might get worse, but
 9  it also is going to lead to, I think, predictably more
10  initiatives and referendums because folks who feel
11  marginalized are going to take those issues up because
12  of their frustration.
13      So I think those are the reasons why
14  independents ought to be engaged because, otherwise,
15  they're foregoing their opportunity to have a -- have
16  to -- you know, when you vote for a legislator, you're
17  delegating that person the authority to make decisions
18  on your behalf.  And I think communicating to them
19  that -- I said this yesterday in the interview with
20  KJZZ.  An independent who doesn't vote isn't just not
21  voting.  They're actually doubling the weight of the
22  person who votes.  So you're not just staying out of
23  it.  You are actually multiplying the power of the vote
24  that you didn't -- you know, you didn't cast.
25      And I don't think that that kind of -- I

11:04:38-11:05:30 Page 61

 1  don't think -- I don't think a lot of independents
 2  understand how much power they are giving to the folks
 3  who do vote when they choose not to vote because
 4  every -- for every vote that isn't there, the vote that
 5  replaces it is double weighted, basically.
 6      So those are some of my takeaways from the
 7  independents.
 8      COMMISSIONER PATON: Can I say something
 9  briefly?
10      MR. COLLINS: Sure.
11      ACTING CHAIRMAN MEYER: Commissioner Paton.
12      COMMISSIONER PATON: As far as the
13  independents, there seems to be a lot of confusion
14  about them voting in primaries.
15      MR. COLLINS: Yeah.
16      COMMISSIONER PATON: And I know my own wife
17  is an independent and she's always, like, can I vote on
18  the primary?  Can I not?  So -- so, I mean, she's an
19  educated woman with a master's degree.
20      MR. COLLINS: Sure.
21      COMMISSIONER PATON: And she's confused.
22  So one thing I think we need to, as far as our
23  education program goes -- and I know that Gina has done
24  stuff about that, but we really need to educate the
25  independents of when they can vote and so on because

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(15) Pages 58 - 61



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

11:05:34-11:06:53 Page 62

 1  they are confused.  And then, secondly, the -- in my
 2  view, both major parties are to both wings and aren't
 3  talking to people in the middle and as to their -- both
 4  of the parties' detriments, I think.
 5      MR. COLLINS: Mr. Chairman, if I could,
 6  Commissioner Paton, I think you make some absolutely
 7  valid points.  I mean, the biggest single issue with
 8  confusion about independents -- well, I should say
 9  there's two issues, but the biggest single issue is the
10  fact that our presidential preference election does not
11  allow independents to vote and our open primary for
12  the -- for the state offices does.  And that is
13  something that is a cycle that repeats itself every two
14  years.
15      And we still, as a -- as an election
16  community, including the county election directors and
17  the recorders and the Secretary of State, all of us are
18  aware of this problem.  All of us have worked on it and
19  continue to work on it, but it is the single biggest
20  driver of confusion.
21      The second -- I think that the second
22  biggest driver of confusion is if you are on the PVL,
23  the primary voting list, you have to tell your county
24  recorder what ballot you want or they won't send you
25  one.  That's another area of confusion.

11:06:56-11:08:07 Page 63

 1      And then the third area of confusion is
 2  that it's not an open primary in the sense of the sort
 3  of top 2 type of stuff you have in California.  You
 4  have to pick a ballot of a party and you are not in a
 5  position to pick and choose among -- among them.
 6      So those -- those three things are, I
 7  think, the top areas of confusion.  I think that the
 8  consensus among election administrators is that those
 9  are the things we need to address.  And we have been,
10  but it takes -- I mean, the Commission started -- the
11  first time we did -- we did address the specific
12  independent voters was, I want to say, 2014.  And we've
13  persisted in doing that since then.
14      And I think that it takes -- one of the
15  nice things about the Commission itself is because
16  there's such -- there's stability in the membership;
17  it's not -- and because you're appointed in a way that
18  makes you non-partisan and independent and all the
19  things that we think are important, but the ability to
20  sustain an effort over time is key to what -- to
21  addressing those issues.
22      Commissioner Paton?
23      COMMISSIONER PATON: Yeah.  I've got --
24  maybe it's a suggestion that would be appropriate, but
25  maybe we can convince the newspapers the day before the

11:08:12-11:08:47 Page 64

 1  primary to put a big headline independents can vote on
 2  this primary, you know, and just put that to all the
 3  Arizona newspapers like the day before.
 4      MR. COLLINS: Well, we -- that's the kind
 5  of thing we can certainly look at.  Gina and I can look
 6  at that with our team.
 7      COMMISSIONER CHAN: Mr. Chairman --
 8      COMMISSIONER PATON: I mean, who could be
 9  against that if you're a newspaper?
10      COMMISSIONER CHAN: Or Mr. Chairman --
11      MR. COLLINS: I don't know who reads the
12  newspaper.
13      COMMISSIONER CHAN: -- to that point, maybe
14  we have it put on the ADOT signs because maybe even
15  more people read those these days than the newspapers,
16  unfortunately.
17      COMMISSIONER PATON: And we spoke about
18  that before.
19      MR. COLLINS: Yeah.
20      COMMISSIONER PATON: They won't let us put
21  stuff on it.
22      COMMISSIONER CHAN: Oh, what?
23      COMMISSIONER PATON: That would be great,
24  actually.
25      MR. COLLINS: Yeah, I know.

11:08:48-11:09:46 Page 65

 1      COMMISSIONER CHAN: That was --
 2      COMMISSIONER PATON: Instead of their
 3  little phrases that they use.
 4      ACTING CHAIRMAN KIMBLE: Gina?
 5      MS. ROBERTS: Commissioners, if I could,
 6  that's a sore subject for me.  We have tried very, very
 7  hard for several years to get ADOT to post signs on
 8  there and even so more recently since they seem to be a
 9  little bit more relaxed on the type of message they are
10  putting out there.  I sent an email, you know, maybe a
11  month ago to try to touch base again, and so we are
12  working on that effort for sure.  We definitely want to
13  see if we can utilize that tactic.
14      And then, as far as the newspaper coverage
15  goes, we were fortunate where in 2016, a lot of the
16  materials that we created to educate independent voters
17  and -- about the primary election, in general, AZ
18  Central and the "Republic," they did pick those up.
19  They did utilize our infographics, and this was, I
20  think, on the bottom fold of the front page.  So we are
21  making headway there to work with our partners in the
22  media to make sure that we can get that message out
23  there.
24      As Tom mentioned, the biggest issues that
25  we run across with independents are, one, just the

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(16) Pages 62 - 65



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

11:09:48-11:10:46 Page 66

 1  education point of it and understanding that you can
 2  participate, navigating through the different rule
 3  changes across each election.
 4      So, for example, as Tom mentioned, the
 5  presidential preference election, but then with our
 6  open primary, you have an open primary, yet the
 7  libertarian party has a closed primary.  So you can
 8  only choose -- you can't choose from every party, and
 9  that changes from year to year.  So sometimes they do
10  have an open primary.
11      And then, also, once we get past that
12  education standpoint, we are seeing a lot of the
13  commentary that comes on the information that we put
14  out there is then they don't like having to choose the
15  ballot, and then they say they don't want to
16  participate because they don't like that system.  So we
17  have a lot that we have to work through to encourage
18  and promote that participation to get -- you know, see
19  those numbers raise.
20      And as Tom mentioned, in 2014, when we saw
21  this, we were looking at a 7 percent turnout rate.  And
22  after our efforts, we saw independent turnout rate
23  increase to, I believe, in the primary election, 14
24  percent.  So while the numbers themselves aren't great,
25  we're going in the right direction.  And so we do have

11:10:49-11:11:54 Page 67

 1  education efforts out right now aimed at independents,
 2  and we're going to continue that.
 3      COMMISSIONER PATON: Mr. Kimble, was a
 4  former newspaper man, as well as Tom.  Maybe they have
 5  ideas about, like, the week before, the day before
 6  primaries, how the newspapers can promote the fact that
 7  independents could vote in primaries.
 8      ACTING CHAIRMAN KIMBLE: Yeah, I don't -- I
 9  think that's pretty widely promoted in the newspapers.
10  You know, it's not a big surprise that newspaper
11  readership has fallen off the cliff.  So I'm not sure
12  that that's the best solution.  That's certainly one of
13  them, though.
14      COMMISSIONER CHAN: Mr. Chairman.
15      ACTING CHAIRMAN KIMBLE: Commissioner Chan.
16      COMMISSIONER CHAN: If I could just make a
17  comment.  You know, one thing that just continually
18  comes to my mind when we talk about voter participation
19  and taking into account the increase in the folks who
20  are not registered with recognized parties and who, you
21  know, for a variety of reasons, but including the
22  confusion we're talking about with participating, and
23  then just the -- not real barriers but barriers in the
24  sense of, oh, now I can vote, but I have to choose a
25  ballot, it just makes me wonder why we continue to have

11:11:57-11:13:14 Page 68

 1  partisan elections.
 2      And I know that's a very politically loaded
 3  statement, probably, but it just -- just thinking about
 4  the system, it just -- I continue to -- I've started
 5  wondering and continue to have the question of where
 6  did that come from and why do we continue to do it?  So
 7  I know there was an initiative.  I didn't remember if
 8  we voted on it, but to have a top 2, you know, primary.
 9      But I just -- I continue to believe with
10  everything that I see from people I know and in the
11  media and on social media -- and, again, that's
12  probably my microcosm.  So it may be very like-minded
13  people, but that many tend to believe that our partisan
14  system does tend to have some extreme viewpoints in it.
15  And having the primaries be -- even though they're
16  open, having more party members participate than, you
17  know, the independents can lead to some polarization
18  that I believe might not be there if we had more people
19  participate at the very beginning than just at the
20  general election.
21      MR. COLLINS: Mr. Chairman, can I just make
22  two quick points?
23      ACTING CHAIRMAN KIMBLE: Tom.
24      MR. COLLINS: And I'm sure you're probably
25  ready to head back down to south of the Gila, but to

11:13:18-11:14:37 Page 69

 1  Commissioner Chan's point, you know, we have an open
 2  door to, you know, specifically the county
 3  administrators but, really, anybody who wants to
 4  propose a policy for Mike and I to review as we put
 5  together our legislative agenda as to whether or not we
 6  would lend support or not.  We have always been open to
 7  that.  Folks haven't taken us up on that, but we
 8  have -- we do have that open.
 9      Now, whether or not we would agree or
10  recommend, that's a whole other vetting process we'd
11  have to go through, but that is something we are open
12  to.
13      And, also, I just wanted to say it should
14  be noted that the decree that Kara negotiated on behalf
15  of Secretary Reagan itself may bring in more voters
16  because it is, by its terms, as she noted earlier,
17  designed to eliminate some of the confusion on the --
18  on the registration, and it's for folks who aren't
19  using Service Arizona but are using paper forms.
20      So we do have a positive step there in
21  terms of voter registration, you know, notwithstanding
22  my antiquated views about -- about the case I worked
23  on, but -- no, but in all seriousness, that's -- as
24  Kara said, that's the -- that's the end goal is that
25  there's no wrong door now for folks who file by paper

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(17) Pages 66 - 69



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

11:14:41-11:15:19 Page 70

 1  to register to vote.  And these are -- these are
 2  good -- these are all going in the same direction, and
 3  that's something that I think -- I just wanted to give
 4  Kara credit for her work on resolving that case and
 5  that -- and that -- and expanding those opportunities.
 6      ACTING CHAIRMAN KIMBLE: Okay.  Thank you.
 7      Item VII, public comment.
 8      Is there anyone who wants to comment?
 9      (No response.)
10      ACTING CHAIRMAN KIMBLE: Item VIII,
11  adjournment.
12      MR. COLLINS: Do we have a motion?  We need
13  a motion.
14      COMMISSIONER CHAN: I vote that we adjourn
15  the meeting.
16      ACTING CHAIRMAN KIMBLE: Is there a second?
17      COMMISSIONER PATON: Second.
18      ACTING CHAIRMAN KIMBLE: All those in favor
19  of adjourning say aye.
20      (Chorus of ayes.)
21      ACTING CHAIRMAN KIMBLE: We are adjourned.
22      (Whereupon, the proceedings concluded at
23      11:15 a.m.)
24  
25  

Page 71

 1  STATE OF ARIZONA     )
   
 2  COUNTY OF MARICOPA   )
   
 3              BE IT KNOWN the foregoing proceedings were
   
 4  taken by me; that I was then and there a Certified
   
 5  Reporter of the State of Arizona, and by virtue thereof
   
 6  authorized to administer an oath; that the proceedings
   
 7  were taken down by me in shorthand and thereafter
   
 8  transcribed into typewriting under my direction; that
   
 9  the foregoing pages are a full, true, and accurate
   
10  transcript of all proceedings and testimony had and
   
11  adduced upon the taking of said proceedings, all done to
   
12  the best of my skill and ability.
   
13              I FURTHER CERTIFY that I am in no way
   
14  related to nor employed by any of the parties thereto
   
15  nor am I in any way interested in the outcome hereof.
   
16              DATED at Phoenix, Arizona, this 20th day of
   
17  July, 2018.
   
18 
   
19                       ______________________________
                         LILIA MONARREZ, RPR, CR #50699
20 
   
21 
   
22 
   
23 
   
24 
   
25 

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(18) Pages 70 - 71



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

A

ability (3) 22:12;55:1;
    63:19
able (10) 5:6;6:5;18:6,
    8;20:8;21:3;35:6;
    43:23;52:20;55:18
above (1) 20:4
absolute (2) 15:13;
    58:18
absolutely (4) 14:21;
    30:13,24;62:6
accept (1) 6:24
acces (1) 25:6
access (11) 17:11;
    20:24;21:10;24:10,17,
    22;25:3,18;29:18;
    33:13;34:3
accidentally (1) 27:14
according (1) 22:10
account (14) 16:9;17:3;
    20:19;22:21;24:7;25:3,
    13;26:11,19;28:18,19;
    34:4,4;67:19
accurate (1) 26:25
accustomed (1) 13:6
achieve (1) 35:4
acknowledges (1) 28:6
across (2) 65:25;66:3
Act (5) 38:24;39:23;
    40:11,14;55:23
acted (1) 13:18
ACTING (13) 49:18;
    57:3,25;61:11;65:4;
    67:8,15;68:23;70:6,10,
    16,18,21
action (8) 3:8;4:7;8:25;
    10:1;38:4,23;43:22;
    49:23
actions (2) 13:19;18:25
activation (1) 17:7
active (1) 26:7
activities (1) 18:15
activity (1) 4:14
actual (3) 10:20;24:5;
    34:4
actually (18) 5:9;9:12;
    10:16;24:7;26:14;
    29:10;32:25;33:20,21,
    24;34:7,8;50:6;53:4,
    18;60:21,23;64:24
acute (1) 21:18
ad (31) 10:8,14,17,24;
    11:16;13:17;14:8,19;
    15:2,4,8,12;16:2,7,10,
    14,18;17:9;18:4,7;
    26:8;27:8;28:24;29:7,
    10,15,16;33:21,23,25;
    34:6
add (6) 19:3;21:12;
    32:20;36:5;50:23;
    55:25

added (1) 17:6
addition (1) 17:8
additional (6) 6:15;
    11:19;21:6;26:13;
    56:23;57:7
address (5) 19:22;20:1,
    7;63:9,11
addressed (3) 20:8;
    24:18;25:24
addressing (2) 54:4;
    63:21
adjourn (1) 70:14
adjourned (1) 70:21
adjourning (1) 70:19
adjournment (1) 70:11
administrators (2) 63:8;
    69:3
ado (1) 51:5
ADOT (2) 64:14;65:7
ads (8) 16:12,20;17:6;
    21:15,16;31:23;37:14,
    18
advantageous (1)
    47:20
advertising (1) 17:16
Advocacy (2) 39:4,14
AdWords (6) 10:8;
    24:11,23;27:1;29:23;
    34:3
affect (2) 8:1;19:16
again (19) 5:10;6:10;
    17:14,21;26:12;29:25;
    34:20,23;35:9,9;36:7,
    12;38:6;41:12,15;
    44:20;53:23;65:11;
    68:11
against (3) 8:23;47:14;
    64:9
age (1) 37:24
agency (2) 22:20;55:20
agenda (6) 3:7;4:6;
    9:25;10:5;38:22;69:5
ago (2) 14:17;65:11
agree (2) 53:4;69:9
agreed (2) 29:22;30:3
agrees (2) 12:5;46:23
ahead (7) 19:6;22:4;
    23:6;25:8;28:25;56:10;
    57:9
aimed (1) 67:1
aired (2) 51:12;53:22
al (1) 39:4
Alec (3) 4:15,25;51:2
allow (3) 7:2;36:24;
    62:11
allowed (3) 19:22;24:4,
    21
allowing (1) 6:6
allows (2) 40:1,3
along (1) 36:3
always (4) 5:12;8:2;
    61:17;69:6
American (1) 4:24

amicus (1) 48:15
among (3) 63:5,5,8
amount (3) 24:21;
    33:16;40:9
Amy (3) 42:3,4;45:22
analogy (2) 26:25;27:9
and/or (1) 38:24
antagonistic (1) 10:13
antiquated (1) 69:22
anymore (1) 53:18
apologetic (1) 18:12
apologies (1) 51:9
apologize (4) 10:17,21;
    13:11;17:14
apparently (2) 20:2;
    43:4
appeal (3) 43:12;
    45:25;46:2
apply (1) 43:3
appointed (1) 63:17
appreciate (9) 9:8;
    17:18;18:2,10;19:10,
    18;21:21;36:15;38:3
approach (3) 16:5;
    18:17;35:2
appropriate (1) 63:24
approval (2) 30:15,21
approve (6) 3:13,18;
    20:5;29:6;30:1,12
approved (9) 16:25;
    17:2;28:23;29:12,16;
    30:1,4;32:4;47:16
area (2) 62:25;63:1
areas (4) 55:12,12,13;
    63:7
argument (5) 9:11,19;
    39:20;40:23;45:11
Arizona (16) 5:4;7:13;
    37:9;39:4,14,24,24;
    40:14;42:20;49:23;
    52:16;53:16,17,17;
    64:3;69:19
around (2) 53:5;57:10
Article (4) 40:11,14;
    42:19,20
ascertain (1) 15:8
aspects (1) 35:17
assessment (2) 15:16,
    21
assessments (1) 15:17
assigning (1) 31:15
Association (1) 4:25
assuming (1) 4:1
assure (1) 17:20
assured (1) 52:12
assuring (1) 20:20
attendance (2) 5:24;
    57:14
attended (1) 5:12
attendees (1) 49:10
attention (2) 13:7;25:23
August (4) 8:13;45:12;
    46:9;53:10

authority (4) 20:10,14,
    16;60:17
authorization (1) 16:24
authorized (1) 16:8
authors (1) 53:20
automatically (1) 6:21
available (2) 17:16;
    19:20
Avelar (1) 52:14
avoid (1) 35:6
aware (4) 13:17;14:18;
    58:11;62:18
awareness (1) 15:19
away (1) 20:16
aye (3) 3:20;49:5;
    70:19
ayes (3) 3:21;49:6;
    70:20
AZ (1) 65:17
AZAN (2) 40:1,23

B

Baby (1) 54:8
back (2) 54:6;68:25
bad (1) 50:3
balances (2) 12:3;23:3
Ball (1) 32:17
ballot (11) 8:3,16,19,
    23;47:11;59:24;60:3;
    62:24;63:4;66:15;
    67:25
ballots (1) 8:21
barriers (2) 67:23,23
base (1) 65:11
based (3) 28:25;33:22;
    35:1
Basically (7) 11:9;
    23:10;24:24;27:12,21;
    42:7;61:5
basis (2) 8:10;46:8
became (1) 27:15
become (1) 5:7
beginning (1) 68:19
behalf (7) 10:15;13:8,
    10;15:19;37:15;60:18;
    69:14
behind (2) 6:8;7:8
best (10) 9:3;14:10;
    33:5,10,14;34:4;36:1;
    50:10;60:4;67:12
better (4) 7:12,20;
    25:14;32:1
beyond (1) 47:25
big (5) 4:15;48:14;
    59:18;64:1;67:10
biggest (6) 5:7;62:7,9,
    19,22;65:24
bill (2) 42:23;43:4
bills (2) 42:9,25
bin (2) 32:6,16
bit (5) 5:10;10:5;11:14;
    32:19;65:9

blame (1) 31:15
blended (3) 16:12;26:9,
    17
board (1) 59:22
Boomers (1) 54:8
border (1) 44:11
BORREGO (20) 11:8;
    12:7,23,24;13:5;20:12,
    17;21:1,5,9;22:5,20;
    23:11,18;25:4,6;26:4,
    6;27:10;36:5
both (15) 11:22;12:17;
    35:1;36:15;39:17,17;
    44:3;45:13;54:3;55:21;
    57:12,13;62:2,2,3
bottom (1) 65:20
bounce (1) 7:3
bound (1) 49:14
boundaries (1) 35:4
box (2) 59:24;60:3
brain (1) 7:22
brand (3) 22:23,23;
    31:10
brief (3) 12:8;34:17;
    39:16
briefed (1) 51:24
briefing (3) 39:15;
    41:25;46:4
briefly (2) 6:12;61:9
briefs (1) 39:18
bring (2) 11:7;69:15
bringing (2) 40:24;55:3
Brnovich (1) 8:2
broadly (1) 10:5
brought (4) 42:1;52:18,
    21;59:13
buck (4) 10:22;34:22,
    22,22
bulk (3) 27:4,5,7
bunch (1) 27:5
bundling (1) 26:1
buses (1) 43:7
business (2) 25:16;
    28:10
button (5) 23:9,14,15;
    32:2,9
buying (3) 27:1,4;54:15

C

cadence (1) 27:18
calendar (1) 41:7
California (1) 63:3
call (4) 3:4;15:8;22:23;
    42:3
called (1) 29:19
came (1) 53:4
campaign (25) 10:18;
    11:10,23;12:14,15,15,
    16,20;13:14;19:13,15;
    24:11,24;25:24;27:14,
    15;36:17,19,19;37:10,
    11,15,19;40:7;54:22

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(72) ability - campaign



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

campaigns (8) 15:20;
    19:13;26:8,12,14;
    27:13;40:16;58:11
can (47) 5:8;11:4,7,7;
    17:12;18:19;21:22,22;
    25:17,17;26:23;27:20;
    29:17,20,24;32:1,3,9;
    33:17;35:16;36:1,5;
    41:3,25;42:3;43:4,4,5;
    46:1;52:25;56:11;61:8,
    17,18,25;63:25;64:1,5,
    5;65:13,22;66:1,7;
    67:6,24;68:17,21
candidate (9) 10:20;
    28:4,11,14;31:2,12;
    40:5;55:9,15
Candidates (11) 5:3,9,
    21,22,24;6:7;15:22;
    19:16;35:25;40:3;
    42:12
capacity (2) 37:10;42:3
Capitol (1) 5:4
capture (1) 10:6
captures (1) 57:6
Careful (1) 47:7
carries (2) 3:24;49:9
case (19) 7:22,25;8:3;
    30:6,19;39:14,22,25;
    42:6,7,15,16;43:8;
    44:10;45:22,23;46:14;
    69:22;70:4
cases (2) 44:13,21
cast (1) 60:24
catch-22 (2) 59:20;60:6
category (1) 8:18
cattle (1) 43:6
caught (1) 11:25
caused (1) 13:16
Center (2) 42:5;43:11
Central (1) 65:18
certain (3) 8:17;18:16;
    53:5
Certainly (3) 27:10;
    64:5;67:12
CHAIRMAN (87) 3:3,
    11,12,15,17,22,24;4:5,
    10;9:10,17,20,24;10:4;
    12:9,21,22,24;19:5,6,8;
    21:13;22:2,3;23:6,19;
    24:12,15;25:8,20;26:5,
    6,23;27:23;28:22;29:3,
    4;30:16;31:14,18;
    32:18;33:3;34:9,12,16;
    36:6,13;37:5;38:10,12,
    20,21;39:3;43:23;
    44:21,24;45:2,16,19;
    46:3,6,10,12;47:7;48:6,
    21;49:1,7,9,18;57:3,25;
    61:11;62:5;64:7,10;
    65:4;67:8,14,15;68:21,
    23;70:6,10,16,18,21
challenge (1) 8:3
challenges (1) 39:25

CHAN (28) 3:16;19:4,7,
    8;20:15,22;21:2,8,11,
    13;28:9;34:16;42:2,3,
    4,5;48:25;49:2;52:11;
    64:7,10,13,22;65:1;
    67:14,15,16;70:14
chance (2) 11:3;48:7
change (1) 40:3
changed (3) 51:19;
    54:14;55:16
changes (3) 34:19;
    66:3,9
changing (1) 16:17
Channel (2) 50:14,15
channels (1) 50:16
Chan's (4) 22:6;45:22;
    48:12;69:1
chapter (1) 52:15
charge (4) 5:8,13;15:7;
    37:8
checks (2) 12:3;23:2
chief (1) 28:12
choice (3) 14:22;16:7;
    20:20
choose (6) 61:3;63:5;
    66:8,8,14;67:24
Chorus (3) 3:21;49:6;
    70:20
chose (1) 59:16
Christina (6) 12:7,10,
    19;19:9;22:1;57:20
Christina's (1) 21:13
circumstance (1) 38:5
circumstances (1) 36:2
cited (1) 28:10
Citizens (5) 3:5;13:12,
    12,13;49:21
citizenship (2) 6:20,25
city (1) 59:22
civility (2) 52:24;53:1
claim (2) 58:1;60:1
clarify (1) 14:10
clarifying (1) 26:24
Clean (29) 3:5;10:1;
    13:13;15:1,14,17;16:6,
    8,13,20,23;17:1,5,10,
    11;22:11,18;26:19;
    28:23;29:5;30:20;
    32:10;38:23,24;40:2,4,
    11;48:16;49:21
clear (3) 14:3;30:17;
    31:6
Clerks (1) 4:25
click (1) 32:1
clicks (2) 15:5,23
client (3) 15:19;33:5,9
clients (1) 13:8
cliff (1) 67:11
closed (2) 39:15;66:7
closes (1) 38:19
collaborated (1) 20:19
collaboration (1) 17:18
colleague (2) 14:11;

    37:6
colleagues (1) 36:7
collect (2) 8:18,20
collection (3) 8:4,16,23
COLLINS (49) 4:10;
    5:19,22;7:10,20;8:14,
    25;10:4;11:9;13:4;
    17:25;21:12;26:23;
    27:23;29:2;30:16;
    31:17;34:21;36:18;
    37:3;38:15;39:2,5;
    44:23;45:1,6,8;48:10;
    50:1,22;51:12;56:3,6,
    11,13;57:5;58:6,15;
    61:10,15,20;62:5;64:4,
    11,19,25;68:21,24;
    70:12
combination (1) 42:11
combining (1) 42:12
comfortable (2) 21:9;
    48:1
coming (1) 36:14
comment (4) 38:18;
    67:17;70:7,8
commentary (1) 66:13
comments (5) 3:10;
    34:14;36:20;38:14;
    48:24
Commission (20) 3:5,8;
    10:16;13:12,13;18:13,
    24;23:20;35:22;36:10;
    37:16;38:24;43:16;
    48:14,18;49:22;52:4;
    58:9;63:10,15
COMMISSIONER (76)
    3:11,12,13,16;4:1,18,
    18;5:18,20;19:4,6,8;
    20:15,22;21:2,8,11,13;
    22:2,3,5,6;23:4,5,7,8,
    16;25:7,9,19;28:9;
    32:17;34:16;42:2,2,4;
    46:11,12,21;47:5,9,17,
    19;48:4,12,25;49:2,18;
    52:11;54:17;58:7;61:8,
    11,12,16,21;62:6;
    63:22,23;64:7,8,10,13,
    17,20,22,23;65:1,2;
    67:3,14,15,16;69:1;
    70:14,17
Commissioners (12)
    4:11;9:21;11:22;
    12:11,25;27:24;29:4;
    34:13;50:1;51:6;56:16;
    65:5
commitment (2) 36:6,11
committed (1) 35:18
committee (1) 41:1
committees (2) 40:8,9
common (1) 15:18
communicate (1) 28:16
communicating (3)
    37:19;59:8;60:18
communication (1) 15:1

community (3) 4:22;
    13:15;62:16
company (3) 10:24,25;
    18:11
compelled (1) 38:7
complaint (4) 8:6;
    40:13;41:18,18
completely (2) 30:25;
    42:21
completes (1) 12:10
compliance (1) 55:23
computer (3) 24:8,10;
    55:11
concerned (2) 18:12;
    19:17
concerns (1) 27:25
concluded (2) 15:21;
    70:22
concludes (1) 17:22
conducted (1) 15:16
conducting (1) 25:2
Conference (1) 4:24
conferenced (1) 46:9
confidence (1) 34:25
confident (1) 35:8
confirming (1) 7:5
conflict (1) 49:19
confused (3) 25:25;
    61:21;62:1
confusion (9) 61:13;
    62:8,20,22,25;63:1,7;
    67:22;69:17
connect (2) 4:21,22
connected (2) 24:9,9
connection (1) 57:16
connectivity (1) 55:14
consensus (1) 63:8
consent (3) 6:13,18;
    7:16
consider (1) 33:3
consistent (1) 7:18
consolidate (1) 8:9
consolidated (1) 9:13
Constitution (5) 40:15,
    22;42:7,21,24
constitutional (1) 39:24
contacted (3) 11:10,11,
    12
contain (1) 42:9
content (1) 10:17
context (2) 6:7;59:7
continually (1) 67:17
continue (9) 36:3;
    55:19;62:19;67:2,25;
    68:4,5,6,9
continues (1) 35:23
continuing (2) 38:4;
    55:10
continuously (1) 15:18
contribution (1) 40:2
contributors (1) 40:18
control (2) 21:6,20
controversial (1) 21:16

conversations (1) 15:15
convince (1) 63:25
copies (1) 11:6
copy (8) 6:15;8:6;
    12:25;20:18;29:11,22;
    41:6,8
Corporation (1) 13:12
cost (2) 33:21,24
costs (1) 54:13
council (7) 41:9,17,19;
    42:13;45:14;47:1,14
councils (1) 59:22
council's (1) 45:9
counsel (1) 11:10
countersued (1) 44:4
county (6) 6:23;7:2;
    58:16;62:16,23;69:2
couple (1) 53:14
course (4) 19:13;21:24;
    27:25;57:21
Court (12) 7:16,22,25;
    9:16;23:24;37:1;42:16;
    44:7;45:13;46:8,23;
    48:3
cover (1) 49:14
coverage (3) 50:13,13;
    65:14
covered (1) 56:4
created (3) 15:25;
    29:11;65:16
credit (1) 70:4
crisis (3) 49:23;60:7,8
critical (1) 34:24
criticism (2) 52:21;
    59:14
cross (4) 10:20;41:10;
    43:25;60:4
crown (1) 35:21
crux (1) 22:14
curious (1) 45:19
current (1) 8:16
cycle (2) 9:2;62:13

D

dashboard (1) 54:24
data (2) 21:22;56:8
database (1) 31:25
date (2) 10:14;31:1
dates (1) 41:12
Daugherty (1) 53:19
David (1) 53:19
day (7) 31:20;37:24;
    56:22,23;63:25;64:3;
    67:5
days (1) 64:15
de (2) 40:9;41:1
deadline (1) 45:12
deadlines (1) 45:5
deal (2) 34:25;59:18
deals (1) 40:9
debate (3) 6:7;10:11;
    28:6

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(73) campaigns - debate



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

debates (7) 4:19;6:1,5;
    10:2;15:24;27:3,15
decided (3) 46:9;57:9;
    59:1
deciding (1) 45:25
decision (7) 7:16;9:15;
    41:23;43:9,10;45:24;
    54:14
decisions (1) 60:17
declined (2) 5:5;10:10
decree (4) 6:13,18;
    7:16;69:14
deeply (1) 13:15
defend (2) 10:9;15:23
defenses (1) 45:20
defer (3) 17:23;29:2;
    32:18
deficiencies (1) 41:20
definitely (2) 25:18;
    65:12
definition (2) 40:3;41:1
degree (1) 61:19
delegating (1) 60:17
demand (1) 44:2
democratic (1) 59:8
department (1) 14:8
depending (1) 29:7
Deputy (1) 12:16
describe (2) 35:11;52:5
description (4) 7:8,21;
    46:25;48:15
descriptions (1) 47:11
designated (1) 16:8
designed (1) 69:17
desire (1) 39:13
desktop (2) 16:1;24:4
despite (2) 42:22,24
detailed (4) 11:15;31:4,
    5;48:17
detected (2) 26:3;27:17
detection (1) 25:21
determine (1) 17:3
determined (2) 15:12;
    43:2
detriments (1) 62:4
different (11) 7:15;
    51:19;52:16;53:2;54:8,
    12,19,21;58:8,8;66:2
direction (2) 66:25;70:2
directly (1) 52:21
director (2) 14:12;24:1
directors (1) 62:16
director's (2) 4:8;9:22
disabled (1) 26:11
disallow (3) 24:5;25:3,6
disclosure (3) 7:21;
    40:18,18
disconnect (3) 27:25;
    54:10,12
discouraging (1) 58:5
discuss (3) 47:7;48:7,
    13
discussed (2) 47:8,21

discussion (11) 3:8;4:7;
    9:25;10:6;16:22;28:3;
    38:22;49:22;53:4,7;
    57:9
dismiss (1) 44:1
distressed (1) 36:8
district (1) 9:15
disturbed (1) 58:3
diversity (1) 52:12
document (1) 17:1
done (4) 51:3;52:10;
    58:25;61:23
door (2) 69:2,25
double (1) 61:5
doubling (1) 60:21
down (4) 14:25;26:5;
    37:3;68:25
draft (10) 16:2;24:3,6;
    31:23,24;32:6,8,22;
    33:19;34:2
drafting (2) 24:3;57:22
drafts (1) 32:16
drastically (1) 33:25
driven (1) 58:22
driver (2) 62:20,22
drivers (1) 28:5
driving (2) 18:20;58:24
Ducey (5) 10:9,10;
    25:24;36:17,19
Ducey's (2) 10:18;
    11:23
due (3) 45:10,10;51:7
during (1) 42:10

E

earlier (1) 69:16
early (1) 19:21
earned (1) 56:17
echo (1) 19:19
economic (1) 54:8
edit (1) 24:3
editor (4) 33:13,15;
    34:2,3
edits (1) 30:12
educate (2) 61:24;
    65:16
educated (1) 61:19
education (17) 4:14;
    5:15;10:1,20,23,25;
    18:14;20:23;35:3,20;
    51:23;54:13;57:15;
    61:23;66:1,12;67:1
education-type (1)
    18:15
effect (1) 10:9
effective (2) 55:17,19
effort (2) 63:20;65:12
efforts (4) 26:17;58:11;
    66:22;67:1
either (3) 30:11;55:11;
    59:15
election (13) 9:2;13:13;

    53:12;59:17;62:10,15,
    16;63:8;65:17;66:3,5,
    23;68:20
Elections (29) 3:5;7:8;
    10:1;15:2,14,17;16:6,8,
    13,21,23;17:1,5,10,11;
    19:15;22:11,18;26:19;
    28:23;29:5;30:20;
    32:10;38:23,24;40:11;
    48:16;49:21;68:1
eligible (1) 59:15
eliminate (1) 69:17
else (2) 38:18;57:4
email (1) 65:10
Empire (1) 4:20
employed (1) 14:7
employee (9) 15:10,12,
    13,15;20:2,10,13;22:9;
    31:7
employee's (3) 13:16;
    16:1,13
employs (1) 14:9
enactments (1) 42:19
encountered (1) 17:18
encourage (1) 66:17
end (5) 9:9;49:16;
    59:21,23;69:24
enforce (1) 44:2
enforceable (1) 40:10
engaged (1) 60:14
engagement (2) 50:17,
    18
engagements (1) 56:24
engine (6) 14:9,24;
    15:7;16:19;17:12,13
English (1) 55:21
enough (2) 12:14;50:3
ensure (1) 33:6
ensuring (4) 32:24;
    33:9;35:3,18
entered (1) 32:25
entirely (1) 54:20
entities (1) 59:23
equalling (1) 56:19
equivalent (1) 53:16
erroneous (1) 27:22
especially (1) 19:19
essentially (4) 6:18;7:3;
    8:5;35:12
et (1) 39:4
even (10) 6:4;21:3;
    31:9;52:9;54:9,11;
    58:17;64:14;65:8;
    68:15
evening (1) 14:17
event (17) 5:4,5,14,15;
    43:25;44:18;50:9;51:2;
    52:10;53:8,11,18;
    56:17,22,23;57:1,2
events (3) 14:1;50:10;
    53:10
everybody (5) 19:20;
    31:19;38:17,17;57:19

everybody's (1) 39:22
evidence (1) 9:17
evident (3) 22:24;
    46:24;47:3
exactly (2) 22:1;37:22
example (8) 29:9,14;
    52:25;53:1;54:5,6,23;
    66:4
exceeded (1) 57:12
Excel (1) 27:21
excited (2) 4:20;5:17
excuse (3) 13:13;
    23:23;30:1
executive (18) 4:7;
    9:22;14:24;39:13;
    43:18;44:15,19;46:15;
    47:8,21;48:1,22;49:2,4,
    10,14,16,20
executives (1) 15:7
exempt (1) 42:21
exist (1) 26:21
exists (1) 53:17
expanding (1) 70:5
expect (1) 37:25
expectations (1) 57:12
expedite (1) 41:24
expedited (7) 8:10,13;
    41:6,24;45:11,13;46:8
expenditure (1) 40:19
expenses (1) 34:1
experience (2) 24:21;
    35:1
explain (2) 23:13;26:2
explained (2) 26:7,10
explanation (1) 31:5
export (1) 27:20
exposure (1) 15:19
expressly (1) 40:3
extension (1) 27:15
external (1) 54:4
extreme (1) 68:14

F

face (1) 54:13
Facebook (3) 29:15,16;
    57:1
fact (11) 10:19;13:18;
    18:2;42:22,24;43:8;
    53:7;58:23;60:4;62:10;
    67:6
facto (2) 40:9;41:1
factors (1) 54:14
fairly (1) 5:24
fake (1) 31:1
fallen (1) 67:11
familiar (1) 41:18
families (1) 54:18
far (7) 20:23;21:4;23:3,
    17;61:12,22;65:14
fast (1) 25:17
favor (3) 3:20;49:4;
    70:18

feature (1) 33:15
featuring (1) 51:3
federal (6) 6:20,21;
    7:15,19,25;8:5
feel (4) 25:14;41:22;
    47:25;60:10
felt (1) 38:7
few (1) 25:22
fewer (1) 50:4
file (6) 41:9,23;45:16,
    17;48:15;69:25
filed (11) 8:1;39:16,17,
    18;41:5,5,7;44:4,24,25;
    46:14
filing (3) 40:10;43:12;
    44:3
fill (1) 7:17
filling (1) 9:7
filter (2) 32:7,10
final (2) 9:15;29:22
finally (1) 43:21
financial (1) 54:16
findings (2) 51:13;
    53:24
fine (1) 43:7
Finish (1) 11:8
firm (5) 13:18;15:2,7;
    16:16;17:10
firmly (1) 28:8
firm's (1) 15:3
first (17) 3:7,19;4:13;
    10:7,10,15;13:6;15:1;
    17:17;18:1,5;30:25;
    46:14;57:10;58:9,16;
    63:11
fit (1) 8:17
five (2) 22:9;31:7
fix (2) 19:22;46:24
Flag (2) 6:4;27:21
flagged (2) 26:18;27:22
Flagstaff (1) 53:11
flaws (1) 41:17
focus (1) 59:2
focused (3) 40:25;
    58:10;59:1
fold (1) 65:20
folks (18) 4:22;5:12,15;
    6:6;20:24;27:3,3;
    31:22;59:2;60:1,1,6,
    10;61:2;67:19;69:7,18,
    25
followers (1) 56:25
following (2) 37:21;
    49:13
follows (2) 16:17;22:6
follow-up (1) 14:13
follow-ups (1) 17:24
Fontes (1) 6:14
foregoing (1) 60:15
foregone (2) 44:6,7
forgotten (1) 41:12
form (6) 6:19,20;7:4,14,
    15;33:13

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(74) debates - form



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

formal (5) 11:20;16:21;
    17:5,22;30:15
formally (1) 16:5
former (2) 42:2;67:4
forms (2) 6:24;69:19
formulate (1) 17:20
fortunate (1) 65:15
forums (1) 4:19
forward (8) 18:9;19:1;
    24:18;26:2,10;36:3;
    38:4;57:7
found (1) 58:16
Foundation (1) 43:22
founded (1) 15:24
four (1) 37:7
framework (1) 51:17
frankly (1) 44:10
Friday (1) 45:11
friends (1) 43:22
front (2) 13:25;65:20
frustrated (1) 59:25
frustrating (1) 44:10
frustration (1) 60:12
full (1) 7:21
Fund (1) 43:22
further (2) 38:14;51:5
future (3) 48:3;50:4;
    51:17

G

game (1) 32:17
gaps (1) 9:8
garnered (2) 56:21;
    57:1
gatekeeper (1) 22:22
gathered (1) 15:8
Gen (1) 54:9
general (6) 11:10;18:8;
    25:3;53:12;65:17;
    68:20
generate (1) 15:23
generations (1) 54:16
generous (1) 12:14
genesis (1) 10:8
Gila (1) 68:25
Gina (24) 4:15,23;
    11:11,12;17:19;18:3;
    21:14,23;28:8;29:2;
    30:17;34:9,18;35:18;
    38:13,17;50:9;51:24;
    54:3;55:25;57:20;
    61:23;64:5;65:4
given (5) 8:6;29:1,24;
    35:16;36:2
giving (1) 61:2
gleaned (1) 45:20
goal (2) 28:12;69:24
goals (1) 35:4
goes (6) 9:16;28:24;
    29:5;32:10;61:23;
    65:15
Good (19) 3:3;4:4,21;

    5:14,24;7:7;12:11;
    28:5;35:16;38:16,17,
    17;45:6;50:2,2,5;
    52:18;59:7;70:2
Google (11) 10:8;
    11:17;15:3,25;17:16;
    24:10;27:1;30:10;
    33:16;34:6,8
governments (1) 60:3
Governor (4) 10:9,10,
    18;11:23
governor's (7) 11:10;
    12:14,20,20;37:8,11;
    42:13
grasp (2) 22:10,17
great (7) 34:25;50:23;
    51:3;54:7;57:2;64:23;
    66:24
grew (4) 54:7,7,9,9
group (2) 27:4;54:19
GRRC (3) 39:17,18;
    40:24
gubernatorial (1) 42:25
guess (11) 8:20;20:9,
    25;22:8;23:1,10;25:21,
    21;26:2;31:20;38:25
guidelines (1) 29:1
guts (1) 6:18
guys (2) 37:17;38:5

H

halted (2) 15:4,5
halting (1) 18:4
hand (4) 13:2,3;40:6;
    58:22
handle (1) 17:23
happen (8) 19:12,23;
    20:12;24:16;26:12;
    34:19;36:7,12
happened (7) 18:7;
    19:11;20:1,6;31:6;
    35:14;37:22
happening (2) 20:10;
    22:17
happens (5) 17:21;
    34:23;35:8,9;43:14
happy (2) 19:11;38:8
hard (7) 7:6;10:19;
    13:8;29:11;31:12;
    47:13;65:7
HCR (6) 39:7;41:4;
    42:1;44:14,21;48:11
head (1) 68:25
headline (1) 64:1
headway (1) 65:21
healthy (1) 53:3
hear (2) 18:24;31:22
heard (1) 20:23
hearing (4) 8:13;9:10;
    32:3;41:12
help (5) 14:1,5,12;50:7;
    57:21

helped (2) 50:9;51:14
helpful (3) 18:4;21:2,25
helps (1) 33:21
High (1) 4:20
higher (2) 54:13,13
hit (2) 32:9,11
Hoffman (2) 42:2,4
homes (1) 54:15
Hootsuite (1) 29:19
hope (5) 5:25;6:11;
    14:2;46:22;58:20
Horizon (1) 53:16
hosted (1) 50:11
hovering (2) 23:14,15

I

ID (1) 7:5
idea (1) 16:18
ideas (1) 67:5
identified (2) 15:2;
    46:19
identify (2) 21:16;30:8
ideological (2) 52:12;
    53:2
III (1) 4:6
Illustrated (2) 53:17,17
imagine (1) 31:8
immediately (4) 13:18;
    14:20,25;15:14
impartial (1) 35:24
important (13) 8:14;
    13:14;14:4;36:9,9;
    37:25;52:19,22;54:1,2;
    56:5;59:11;63:19
importantly (1) 12:1
impressions (5) 33:23;
    56:18,19,22,24
impressive (1) 58:1
improve (1) 15:19
improving (1) 16:18
incident (2) 13:16;
    16:16
including (5) 16:20;
    18:16;55:17;62:16;
    67:21
incorrect (5) 13:17;
    14:21,22;15:8;43:10
increase (4) 58:19,19;
    66:23;67:19
indeed (2) 10:14;46:23
independent (13)
    51:25;58:2,10,18;59:3,
    4,9;60:20;61:17;63:12,
    18;65:16;66:22
independents (16)
    53:10;58:4,22,23;
    60:14;61:1,7,13,25;
    62:8,11;64:1;65:25;
    67:1,7;68:17
Indian (1) 4:24
indicated (1) 43:11
individual (1) 55:6

individualized (2)
    54:25;55:4
individually (1) 26:1
infographics (1) 65:19
inform (2) 28:12,13
informal (1) 6:6
information (17) 7:3;
    11:1,22;14:3,21;16:7;
    20:18;23:3;24:24;
    35:24;40:16;47:2;
    53:13;55:1,4,21;66:13
informed (1) 9:3
informing (3) 10:2;27:2,
    3
initiated (1) 4:18
initiative (1) 68:7
initiatives (2) 60:1,10
injunction (3) 8:7,23;
    9:13
input (1) 29:18
inputting (1) 33:22
insofar (1) 9:15
instead (2) 16:2;65:2
Institute (4) 50:6;51:13;
    52:15;57:21
instructed (1) 15:10
instructions (1) 31:5
integrity (1) 55:22
intend (1) 10:18
intended (1) 26:20
interact (2) 54:21,23
Interest (1) 42:6
Interesting (1) 9:20
internal (1) 54:4
internet (2) 24:9;33:14
interpretation (1) 40:22
interpreted (1) 7:2
interview (4) 15:10,11;
    53:21;60:19
into (21) 7:22;8:17;
    10:17,20;15:9;16:12;
    24:22,22,23;26:9,17;
    33:22;35:20;39:13;
    44:19;48:22;49:1,4;
    50:9;52:22;67:19
intro (1) 51:1
introduce (2) 36:25;
    56:13
invited (1) 5:22
involved (3) 19:14;
    39:8;57:19
involves (2) 39:8,23
involving (1) 38:23
Iowa (2) 43:22,24
irony (1) 59:12
issue (8) 8:15;24:18;
    25:21;28:21;58:21,22;
    62:7,9
issues (12) 10:21;44:5;
    48:15;49:24;53:5;
    54:12,20;55:7;60:11;
    62:9;63:21;65:24
item (13) 3:7;4:6,6;

    9:25;10:5;30:20;38:19,
    19,22;39:3;49:22;70:7,
    10
items (2) 39:6;51:3
IV (1) 9:25

J

jewel (1) 35:21
job (5) 15:18;24:21,22,
    25;51:3
JP (4) 12:16;36:18,25;
    37:6
judge (8) 6:15;9:13;
    42:6,15,16;43:2;46:17;
    47:23
judgment (5) 39:15;
    41:7,8;44:25;45:18
July (2) 3:5;49:21
June (3) 3:9,14,18
Justice's (1) 52:15

K

Kara (5) 6:17;9:7;
    69:14,24;70:4
KARLSON (6) 7:7,11;
    8:12,22;9:12,19
Kashima (11) 14:11;
    23:19,22,25,25;24:14,
    20;25:5,15;27:12;
    33:12
keep (4) 9:3;32:22;
    35:23;54:6
key (6) 27:17;30:8;
    32:22;33:4;58:24;
    63:20
KIMBLE (29) 3:11,12,
    13;22:2,3,5;23:4;
    46:11,12,21;47:5,9,17,
    19;48:4;49:18;57:3,25;
    58:7;65:4;67:3,8,15;
    68:23;70:6,10,16,18,21
kind (12) 6:19;22:6,16;
    25:25;31:25;32:12;
    35:2;52:5;53:7;55:20;
    60:25;64:4
kinds (4) 9:6;48:16,18;
    55:3
KJZZ (2) 53:21;60:20
knew (1) 20:3
knowing (3) 22:13;
    31:10,10
Knox (2) 8:1,2

L

lack (2) 22:25;32:1
landscape (1) 54:21
language (5) 7:1;10:12,
    12;30:24;46:24
last (11) 4:24;7:24;
    18:21;21:24;37:7;

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(75) formal - last



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

    39:16;48:7,13,19;51:7;
    52:2
late (3) 19:21;37:20;
    46:9
law (6) 8:4,5,17;39:24;
    42:5;43:11
laws (3) 7:19;40:17;
    51:19
lawsuit (1) 8:12
lawsuits (1) 41:5
lay (1) 33:18
layer (2) 21:6;26:13
lead (2) 60:9;68:17
leaders (1) 13:14
leadership (1) 14:24
least (6) 7:5;18:6,8;
    36:22;39:8;42:8
leave (2) 45:13;49:19
leg (2) 41:16;45:9
Legacy (1) 43:22
legal (7) 9:11,19;38:23;
    39:11;41:20;48:2;
    51:17
legislation (1) 59:24
legislative (8) 41:9,19;
    42:8,17;45:14;47:1,14;
    69:5
legislator (1) 60:16
legislature (5) 40:17;
    42:18,20,23;59:25
lend (1) 69:6
lengthier (1) 47:12
letter (2) 41:16,16
letting (2) 33:13;34:3
level (1) 35:19
Lewis (1) 42:4
LFAF (1) 43:21
libertarian (1) 66:7
likely (1) 48:8
like-minded (1) 68:12
limit (1) 47:13
line (2) 16:23;27:6
lines (1) 36:3
link (1) 24:7
linking (1) 24:5
list (1) 62:23
listen (1) 31:18
listening (1) 52:7
literally (1) 53:22
litigate (2) 44:6,8
litigating (1) 44:9
litigation (1) 39:7
little (6) 10:5;11:14;
    32:19;39:20;65:3,9
live (30) 15:12;16:3,11,
    14;20:5,6,11,24;23:3;
    24:5;26:14,20;28:24;
    29:5;30:5,13;31:24;
    32:2,3,6,9,11,16,25;
    33:7;34:4;50:12;51:2;
    55:11;56:21
loaded (1) 68:2
lobbied (1) 42:10

local (1) 53:16
locked (1) 7:22
log (1) 17:12
log-in (3) 17:11;29:20,
    24
longer (2) 32:22;54:15
look (9) 18:15;21:15;
    24:23;27:20;38:4;
    41:18;51:21;64:5,5
looked (1) 51:24
looking (9) 7:23;30:10;
    50:19,24;51:15,16;
    57:7;58:3;66:21
looks (3) 33:20;50:4;
    51:4
loop (1) 21:4
lot (14) 8:25;25:14;
    37:23;38:1;50:17;52:9,
    24;53:1;56:5;61:1,13;
    65:15;66:12,17
low (1) 58:19
LULAC (2) 6:13;7:16

M

main (1) 18:20
maintain (1) 55:22
major (1) 62:2
makes (4) 25:14;31:19;
    63:18;67:25
making (3) 12:2;34:5;
    65:21
man (1) 67:4
Manager (10) 12:16,21;
    16:9;17:3;20:19;22:21;
    25:13;28:19;36:19;
    37:10
managers (1) 15:9
managing (1) 52:14
Manger (1) 12:16
many (9) 5:2;13:8;
    33:17,23;41:17;55:13,
    13;58:23;68:13
marginalized (1) 60:11
Maricopa (1) 58:16
marketed (1) 30:14
marketing (6) 14:9,25;
    15:7;16:19;17:13,13
Mary (4) 39:11;44:18;
    45:8;46:13
master's (1) 61:19
match (2) 7:5,6
materials (2) 35:3;
    65:16
matter (3) 7:17;13:23;
    23:13
matters (4) 10:2;38:23,
    25;39:8
may (13) 8:1;12:10;
    14:6,11;26:24;30:16;
    31:21;43:19;50:4;55:6;
    59:5;68:12;69:15
Maybe (10) 32:14;33:5;

    36:20;59:17;63:24,25;
    64:13,14;65:10;67:4
mean (14) 18:22;20:9;
    23:16;25:9,10,11,13;
    43:13;47:12;51:18;
    61:18;62:7;63:10;64:8
meaningful (1) 53:3
means (1) 37:23
meant (1) 38:1
measures (1) 22:16
mechanism (1) 30:5
media (12) 14:12;
    16:17;17:7;24:1;29:8,
    14;50:13;54:21;56:21;
    65:22;68:11,11
Meet (3) 5:3,9;6:6
meeting (12) 3:4,9,14,
    18;5:1;13:22;49:13,16,
    21;53:19,22;70:15
member (1) 28:17
members (5) 18:12;
    23:19;28:19;36:17;
    68:16
membership (1) 63:16
memo (4) 11:20;25:25;
    26:7;28:2
memorandum (1) 13:22
mention (1) 6:12
mentioned (4) 36:16;
    65:24;66:4,20
mentioning (1) 28:10
mentions (4) 53:15;
    56:19,20,25
merge (1) 43:5
merits (2) 8:9;9:14
message (4) 18:18;
    29:12;65:9,22
messages (1) 54:1
met (2) 12:4;55:7
metrics (3) 50:13,17,21
MEYER (46) 3:3,12,15,
    17,22,24;4:5;9:10,17,
    20,24;12:22;19:6;22:3;
    23:6;24:12,15;25:8,20;
    26:5;28:22;31:14,18;
    34:9,12;36:13;38:10,
    12,21;39:3;44:21,24;
    45:2,16,19;46:3,6,10;
    47:7;48:6,21;49:1,7,9,
    18;61:11
microcosm (1) 68:12
middle (1) 62:3
midnight (1) 11:14
might (13) 6:4;12:11;
    21:18;26:23;43:16,16,
    19;44:12;48:2;50:23;
    59:23;60:8;68:18
Mike (1) 69:4
Millennial (2) 55:5;58:2
Millennials (2) 52:1;
    54:5
million (1) 58:3
mind (3) 16:13;26:20;

    67:18
minutes (5) 3:8,10,14,
    18;15:1
missed (1) 23:1
mission (1) 36:10
mistake (11) 13:16;
    15:13;16:15;17:17;
    20:1,9;25:10,22;31:19,
    19;33:8
mistakenly (2) 16:3;
    20:5
mistakes (2) 19:12;
    31:20
misunderstanding (2)
    22:22;28:18
mode (4) 16:2,3,11,14
moment (1) 15:13
Monday (2) 41:10;
    45:10
monitoring (1) 27:19
month (1) 65:11
months (2) 22:9;31:7
more (22) 11:14,15,25;
    15:23;18:25;19:2;21:3;
    32:19;39:6;48:1,17;
    53:9;55:17,19;59:24;
    60:9;64:15;65:8,9;
    68:16,18;69:15
morning (6) 3:3;11:13,
    15;15:6,11;19:21
Morrison (4) 50:6;
    51:13;53:15;57:21
most (5) 28:1;47:4;
    48:8;54:6;56:5
motion (14) 3:16,17,24;
    8:7;9:14;41:7,10;
    44:25;48:23,25;49:3,9;
    70:12,13
motions (3) 3:10;43:25;
    45:18
move (5) 3:13;9:24;
    36:3;41:3;49:1
moved (2) 8:8;37:17
moving (3) 24:18;26:2,
    10
much (13) 7:20;10:6;
    11:1;19:9;33:23;34:14;
    36:10,13,15;38:3,10;
    41:25;61:2
Mueller (2) 12:17;37:7
multiplying (1) 60:23
Municipal (1) 4:25
must (1) 30:4
myself (1) 10:16

N

name (10) 23:21,24,25;
    26:18;29:20,24;31:2,
    12;37:6;56:15
names (3) 15:22;28:4,
    11
nature (3) 25:1,16;47:3

navigating (1) 66:2
necessarily (2) 44:15;
    59:2
necessary (1) 45:14
need (11) 12:3;17:4;
    20:19;34:5;37:12;
    48:14;55:1;61:22,24;
    63:9;70:12
needs (4) 7:6;32:4;
    47:21;48:18
negotiate (1) 5:7
negotiated (2) 6:13;
    69:14
Nevertheless (2) 43:2;
    44:8
new (6) 16:5;17:4,5;
    20:7;31:7;56:25
news (4) 50:2,2,3,5
news/bad (1) 50:2
newspaper (5) 64:9,12;
    65:14;67:4,10
newspapers (5) 63:25;
    64:3,15;67:6,9
next (7) 3:7;4:6,17;
    11:12;15:6;45:11;
    53:10
nice (1) 63:15
night (8) 11:11,12,12,
    17;19:21;31:22;37:20;
    53:18
nominee (1) 40:5
non-partisan (2) 31:13;
    63:18
nor (1) 16:8
normal (3) 33:10,11,11
note (1) 12:13
noted (2) 69:14,16
notice (2) 25:23;41:20
noticed (1) 3:5
notification (1) 29:16
notified (3) 18:3;19:10;
    30:25
notwithstanding (2)
    43:8;69:21
Number (7) 9:25;38:22;
    39:3;50:15,15;58:17,
    18
numbers (3) 57:17;
    66:19,24

O

object (1) 37:13
objected (1) 5:13
objectives (1) 12:4
objects (1) 40:1
obviously (5) 9:5;
    37:13;39:12;50:8;
    58:23
occurred (3) 13:25;
    14:3;19:12
o'clock (1) 11:15
off (6) 7:4;10:15;15:14;

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(76) late - off



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

    54:15,18;67:11
offices (1) 62:12
official (1) 37:10
officially (1) 13:11
officials (1) 7:9
O'GRADY (12) 45:4,7,
    9,17;46:1,4,7,19,22;
    47:15,18,24
omitted (1) 47:2
Once (3) 16:10;52:10;
    66:11
one (34) 4:2;7:14;
    12:17;14:20;27:6,6,6,
    24;30:16;34:17,17;
    39:7;40:1;41:5;42:9;
    43:17,19;44:24;46:13,
    14;47:12,13;50:10;
    53:10,15,20;59:12,13;
    61:22;62:25;63:14;
    65:25;67:12,17
ones (1) 14:19
one-umbrella (1) 27:13
online (1) 56:17
Only (7) 17:5;18:22;
    25:12;44:16;51:8;
    55:20;66:8
open (10) 62:11;63:2;
    66:6,6,10;68:16;69:1,6,
    8,11
operating (1) 51:9
operation (1) 37:9
opportunities (3) 6:6;
    54:8;70:5
opportunity (8) 4:21;
    13:21;44:6,8;48:13,20;
    59:10;60:15
opposed (2) 42:4;49:7
opposition (1) 3:22
optimization (1) 16:19
option (1) 39:12
oral (2) 39:19;45:10
order (5) 3:4;10:25;
    39:1;44:2;55:2
organization (2) 22:24;
    23:2
others (3) 10:7;47:16;
    55:25
otherwise (1) 60:14
ought (1) 60:14
ourselves (1) 21:23
out (28) 4:15,25;7:17;
    9:5;12:15;13:3,6;
    18:18;21:4,15;27:5;
    30:14;32:11;33:18,21;
    35:19;38:19;49:11,20;
    53:6;55:10;59:13,25;
    60:22;65:10,22;66:14;
    67:1
outage (1) 51:7
outlined (2) 35:6;36:4
outlining (1) 41:17
outside (1) 28:11
over (13) 5:23;10:20;

    11:4,5;21:22,24;23:14,
    15;32:8;37:7,19;58:25;
    63:20
overall (1) 59:7
oversees (1) 14:24
overspending (1) 33:25
owe (1) 40:10
own (5) 20:11;22:12,
    19;29:20;61:16

P

pacing (1) 24:24
package (1) 57:11
packet (1) 11:21
packets (1) 13:22
page (1) 65:20
pages (1) 55:17
paints (1) 14:2
pamphlet (2) 55:10,16
panel (5) 52:11,13,16,
    25;53:1
paper (3) 7:17;69:19,
    25
part (9) 18:19;24:25;
    33:1;47:4;54:6,11;
    58:10,24;59:11
partially (1) 58:22
participate (7) 10:11;
    18:19;28:13;66:2,16;
    68:16,19
participating (2) 42:12;
    67:22
participation (2) 66:18;
    67:18
particular (8) 16:14;
    26:10;28:16;30:19,19;
    46:20;50:5;59:4
particularly (3) 21:18;
    37:16;55:12
parties (5) 40:4;58:24,
    25;62:2;67:20
parties' (1) 62:4
partisan (2) 68:1,13
partner (1) 52:15
partners (1) 65:21
parts (1) 57:7
party (5) 58:24;63:4;
    66:7,8;68:16
pass (1) 40:17
passed (2) 13:5;42:18
passing (1) 31:21
past (3) 35:1;58:10;
    66:11
Paton (26) 4:18;5:18,
    20;23:5,7,8,16;25:7,9,
    19;54:18;61:8,11,12,
    16,21;62:6;63:22,23;
    64:8,17,20,23;65:2;
    67:3;70:17
PATTON (1) 32:17
Paul (1) 52:14
pay (2) 5:6,15

payment (1) 44:3
PBS (1) 53:16
penalty (1) 40:11
pending (1) 32:22
people (25) 5:6;7:13,
    14;8:21;23:17;24:20;
    50:3,4,12;51:19;53:2,
    6;55:18;57:1;58:11;
    59:15,19,21,24;60:2;
    62:3;64:15;68:10,13,
    18
percent (4) 54:10;
    59:15;66:21,24
percentage (1) 58:19
perfect (1) 13:4
perfectly (1) 43:7
performance (2) 16:18;
    17:9
perhaps (1) 7:12
periodically (2) 29:21,
    25
persisted (1) 63:13
person (3) 22:21;60:17,
    22
personal (1) 42:3
personally (3) 10:17;
    36:9;43:9
person's (1) 8:18
perspective (6) 26:22;
    48:7;51:23;52:3,19;
    57:11
perusal (1) 39:19
Phoenix (2) 6:2;50:14
phone (2) 4:2,2
phrases (1) 65:3
physically (2) 23:9;
    25:12
pick (3) 63:4,5;65:18
picked (1) 56:20
picture (1) 14:3
piece (1) 7:17
pieces (1) 56:5
pilot (2) 4:17;5:10
place (5) 12:3;18:6;
    31:11;36:1;40:8
plaintiffs (1) 8:22
plan (1) 36:3
planned (2) 58:13,13
planning (1) 58:14
platform (5) 15:3;24:23;
    29:18,19;33:15
play (1) 50:25
playing (1) 51:11
Please (3) 23:21,23;
    49:11
pm (4) 14:17,23,23;
    15:4
point (7) 9:1;26:24;
    35:13;58:6;64:13;66:1;
    69:1
points (4) 27:24;54:2;
    62:7;68:22
polarization (1) 68:17

policy (2) 6:23;69:4
political (7) 37:9;40:4,7,
    8,9;41:1;58:2
politically (1) 68:2
politics (1) 52:24
portion (2) 41:4;49:20
posed (1) 13:23
position (7) 28:20;
    34:24;35:10,11,16;
    40:20;63:5
positive (1) 69:20
possible (9) 3:8;4:7,12;
    10:1;11:16;20:16;
    38:22;41:14;49:23
post (4) 22:12;28:25;
    32:2;65:7
postal (1) 8:5
posted (1) 25:11
posting (1) 22:19
posts (2) 32:6,6
potential (1) 59:6
potentially (2) 27:8;
    28:5
power (3) 51:7;60:23;
    61:2
predictably (1) 60:9
preempted (2) 8:5,19
preference (2) 62:10;
    66:5
preliminary (3) 8:7;
    9:13;11:13
Prescott (2) 6:4;56:20
presentation (1) 12:8
presented (5) 4:23;
    9:18;16:5,20;51:13
presidential (2) 62:10;
    66:5
pre-taped (1) 53:21
pretty (2) 22:8;67:9
prevail (2) 45:15;46:16
prevent (2) 20:9;22:16
previously (3) 5:5;7:13;
    47:6
primaries (5) 59:10;
    61:14;67:6,7;68:15
primary (15) 10:14;
    59:4;61:18;62:11,23;
    63:2;64:1,2;65:17;
    66:6,6,7,10,23;68:8
print (3) 11:3;29:7,9
printing (1) 45:12
prior (2) 6:22;54:15
priority (1) 44:20
probably (4) 54:17;
    68:3,12,24
problem (8) 14:19;
    19:22;21:18;22:15;
    41:21;46:25;47:4;
    62:18
problems (5) 45:15;
    46:20,23;53:5;59:7
proceed (1) 46:18
proceedings (1) 70:22

process (16) 14:8,14;
    18:9;20:4,7;21:19,25;
    28:25;31:16,20;32:13,
    19;33:11;52:22;57:8;
    69:10
processes (3) 16:17;
    17:20;31:21
professionalism (3)
    37:18;38:2,6
program (9) 4:17;5:10;
    10:20,23;24:8;33:13;
    35:21;57:15;61:23
project (2) 50:5;57:10
projects (1) 15:14
promote (2) 66:18;67:6
promoted (1) 67:9
proof (4) 6:20,24;29:11,
    12
propose (1) 69:4
proposed (3) 6:12;
    28:23;46:16
Protection (2) 39:23;
    40:14
proud (4) 51:5;53:7;
    57:18,23
provide (4) 13:24;17:8,
    10;22:8
provided (1) 11:21
provides (3) 13:23;
    40:15;55:20
providing (4) 16:23;
    17:15;21:10;53:12
proxies (1) 8:24
public (11) 5:8;7:12;
    10:2;30:14;41:4;42:6;
    47:25;49:16,20;59:7;
    70:7
publicity (1) 40:19
pull (4) 11:1;27:17;
    43:24;50:8
pulled (1) 56:18
pulls (1) 27:19
punch (1) 23:9
purchase (1) 10:25
purpose (5) 20:3;27:2;
    51:20,21,22
pursuant (4) 7:15;
    11:23;42:19,20
put (13) 9:5;25:23;
    35:19,20;41:19;50:25;
    51:1;64:1,2,14,20;
    66:13;69:4
puts (1) 5:4
putting (5) 27:5;32:5;
    54:15,18;65:10
PVL (1) 62:22

Q

quality (3) 10:13;21:6;
    35:19
quick (3) 4:11;53:14;
    68:22

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(77) offices - quick



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

quickly (3) 11:5;41:3,13
quickness (1) 37:17
quite (2) 38:6;58:18

R

raise (1) 66:19
ran (3) 10:11;29:9,13
ranching (1) 43:6
rare (1) 17:15
rate (2) 66:21,22
rather (1) 6:7
reach (4) 55:8,10;
    57:12,13
reached (1) 57:1
reaching (1) 35:5
react (1) 25:17
read (3) 13:21;47:23;
    64:15
readership (1) 67:11
reading (2) 22:7;32:23
reads (1) 64:11
ready (4) 34:7;47:20,
    22;68:25
Reagan (3) 6:14;39:4;
    69:15
real (5) 6:12;11:22;
    58:21;60:6;67:23
realized (1) 16:15
really (29) 5:14;6:5;
    10:16,22;11:5;18:20;
    19:15;20:1;23:13;
    25:11;35:22;39:6;
    40:12,13,25;50:7,10;
    51:4,4;53:6,6;54:1,2,3;
    55:4;57:18;60:7;61:24;
    69:3
reason (3) 5:12;18:20;
    37:14
reasons (4) 28:9;40:1;
    60:13;67:21
recall (2) 32:21,23
recap (1) 49:23
receive (1) 33:9
received (2) 15:5;31:4
recently (1) 65:8
Recession (1) 54:7
recognized (2) 14:20;
    67:20
recommend (2) 36:2;
    69:10
recommendation (11)
    15:24;16:4,19,22,25;
    17:2,4,6;28:7;31:10;
    33:10
recommending (1)
    43:18
reconsidered (1) 7:2
record (8) 10:9;18:16;
    30:18;37:1,5;47:25;
    56:14;59:3
Recorder (2) 6:14;
    62:24

recorders (3) 6:23;7:2;
    62:17
reelection (1) 37:11
refer (1) 14:16
referendum (1) 43:5
referendums (2) 42:18;
    60:10
reflected (1) 9:5
reflects (1) 41:15
regard (1) 20:1
regards (1) 14:13
regionally (1) 13:9
register (2) 59:16;70:1
registered (2) 54:11;
    67:20
registration (2) 69:18,
    21
Regulatory (1) 42:13
reinforce (1) 14:1
reject (1) 6:24
rejected (2) 28:7;34:8
related (5) 14:6;39:7;
    40:16;48:15;49:24
relating (1) 10:2
relaxed (1) 65:9
reliability (1) 18:17
reliable (1) 35:24
relitigate (1) 44:5
rely (1) 14:11
remained (1) 58:18
remaining (1) 16:2
remarkable (1) 38:6
remarks (1) 17:22
remedied (1) 28:1
remedy (1) 45:15
remember (1) 68:7
removed (1) 37:18
removing (1) 32:24
repeats (1) 62:13
replaces (1) 61:5
reply (1) 45:10
report (16) 4:8;9:9,22;
    17:9;22:10;27:17;
    49:23;51:20,21,22;
    52:2;53:21,23;56:18;
    57:22;58:1
reporter (2) 23:24;37:1
reports (3) 22:7;44:3;
    53:9
representative (1)
    59:23
representatives (1) 12:6
represented (1) 42:5
republic (2) 59:8;65:18
request (1) 11:24
require (2) 40:17;44:15
required (1) 5:6
requirement (1) 42:22
requires (1) 42:8
research (4) 52:3,10,
    18,19
researchers (1) 53:15
reservation (1) 55:13

resolution (1) 41:24
resolve (1) 43:24
resolved (1) 37:20
resolving (1) 70:4
resources (1) 53:13
respect (4) 13:11;
    39:10,10;53:5
response (9) 3:23;9:23;
    32:21;33:3,6;41:10;
    45:9;49:8;70:9
responses (2) 41:11;
    57:2
responsibility (4) 10:22;
    22:11,18;35:14
responsible (2) 14:9;
    20:20
restrict (1) 25:18
restrictions (1) 8:24
result (4) 8:20;16:6,16;
    60:3
results (2) 52:17,17
resumes (1) 49:17
resuming (1) 49:22
return (1) 5:8
review (8) 16:21;17:5;
    20:4;29:25;30:2;42:13;
    45:14;69:4
revolutionized (1) 54:25
rich (1) 57:8
RIESTER (32) 11:1,12,
    17,20;12:5,6,8;13:6,10;
    16:9;17:8,15;18:2,21;
    21:15,21;24:1;28:3,6,
    24;29:18;31:6,9,22;
    32:21;35:1,10;36:4;
    50:7,7,25;51:1
RIESTER's (1) 17:3
right (19) 3:3;4:24;
    20:17,17;22:20;23:11;
    24:13;26:4;38:21;44:5;
    45:18;46:21;47:15;
    48:21;51:9;52:24;54:7;
    66:25;67:1
Rights (2) 55:23;58:12
Rivko (2) 8:1,2
ROBERTS (9) 29:4;
    30:23;32:18;34:11;
    51:6;56:2,4;58:14;65:5
role (4) 13:14;22:10,
    17;48:12
rule (5) 40:1,7,8,21;
    66:2
ruled (2) 42:17,17
rules (3) 9:2;31:10;
    33:11
ruling (1) 48:8
run (7) 20:19;29:9,15;
    34:7,8;37:14;65:25
running (4) 16:12;32:7;
    37:8;40:4
rural (1) 55:12
Ryan (6) 38:16;50:19,
    24;56:7,15;57:20

S

Sahuarita (1) 4:19
Sahuaro (1) 4:19
same (6) 7:18;31:25;
    32:6,16;55:9;70:2
sample (2) 16:2,20
Sara (3) 12:16;37:6,7
satisfied (1) 34:18
savvy (1) 55:11
saw (4) 14:19;27:7;
    66:20,22
saying (3) 23:10;29:11;
    35:12
SB (1) 39:25
scene (1) 52:5
scenes (1) 7:8
schedule (1) 46:5
scheduling (1) 49:19
school (1) 43:6
Schools (1) 4:20
screenshot (1) 14:18
search (17) 14:9,24;
    15:3,7,17;16:1,12,19;
    17:6,9,11,13,16;27:21;
    28:23;29:6;30:7
second (10) 3:15,16;
    10:12;42:1;45:22;
    48:25;62:21,21;70:16,
    17
seconded (2) 3:19;49:2
secondly (1) 62:1
Secretary (5) 6:14;
    39:17;40:24;62:17;
    69:15
section (3) 27:6;49:13;
    60:4
secure (1) 35:22
seeing (2) 19:19;66:12
seeking (1) 8:23
seem (2) 32:20;65:8
seems (3) 22:14;31:21;
    61:13
sees (2) 48:14;55:5
selected (1) 20:18
SEM (1) 27:1
send (1) 62:24
senior (1) 18:2
sense (4) 32:15;41:19;
    63:2;67:24
sensitivity (1) 25:1
sent (4) 14:18;41:16,
    16;65:10
separate (1) 49:14
series (1) 14:1
seriously (2) 13:19;
    19:16
seriousness (1) 69:23
Service (1) 69:19
session (16) 39:13;
    42:11;43:19;44:15,19;
    46:15;47:8,22;48:1,22;

    49:2,5,10,14,16,20
set (6) 16:3,11;27:13;
    33:16;46:5;51:14
several (3) 12:6;52:2;
    65:7
shall (2) 40:16,17
share (1) 38:3
shared (1) 37:19
sharp (1) 51:4
Shazam (1) 54:24
sheet (2) 27:21;29:10
ships (1) 31:21
shop (1) 13:7
shortest (1) 47:18
shot (1) 4:15
show (3) 33:19,19;
    57:17
showed (1) 38:1
showing (1) 57:15
shows (1) 11:3
side (3) 32:8,11;40:6
sides (1) 40:23
sign (1) 16:23
signature (1) 16:23
signed (4) 6:15,21;
    17:1,3
significant (1) 58:20
signs (3) 17:5;64:14;
    65:7
simplistic (1) 32:14
simply (2) 43:3;55:14
simultaneously (1)
    15:25
sincerely (1) 18:12
single (6) 42:7,13,22;
    62:7,9,19
site (1) 28:6
situation (2) 13:20;
    17:15
six (1) 56:19
Snapchat (1) 54:23
social (6) 29:14;50:17,
    18;56:7,21;68:11
soft (1) 7:5
software (10) 15:3,9;
    16:1,10;17:7,12;23:13;
    24:3,4,5
solution (2) 47:4;67:12
solve (1) 41:21
somebody (3) 20:4;
    23:9;27:7
somehow (3) 24:13;
    42:21;44:4
someone (2) 22:17;
    32:1
sometimes (1) 66:9
somewhere (1) 32:21
soon (2) 11:16;18:3
sooner (2) 26:3,5
sore (1) 65:6
sorry (1) 13:15
sort (11) 23:12;26:8;
    27:4;29:1;30:8;39:6;

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(78) quickly - sort



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

    40:22,25;41:2;47:3;
    63:2
sound (1) 45:21
sounds (1) 26:25
source (1) 35:24
south (1) 68:25
Spanish (1) 55:21
speak (5) 12:7,18;
    19:14;20:3;48:19
speaks (1) 28:2
specific (9) 11:14;15:4,
    22;18:25;27:8;39:11;
    51:25;52:1;63:11
specifically (7) 28:4,7;
    40:15;42:24;43:15;
    51:24;69:2
specifics (1) 29:3
spoke (1) 64:17
sponsor (2) 5:3,7
sponsoring (1) 5:13
spot (1) 56:1
spot-check (1) 29:21
spreadsheet (1) 30:8
stability (1) 63:16
staff (21) 10:16;15:6;
    16:6,8,21;17:1,10,11,
    19;18:2,14;21:15;
    28:17,22,23;29:6;
    30:20;32:3;37:16;38:1;
    50:9
standards (4) 33:16;
    34:6;43:6,6
standpoint (1) 66:12
standup (1) 13:7
start (1) 14:16
started (3) 26:15;63:10;
    68:4
starting (1) 21:25
state (13) 5:23;6:19;
    7:14,19;13:8;18:17;
    39:17,18;40:24;55:12,
    20;62:12,17
State-approved (1)
    18:14
stated (2) 12:4;38:25
statement (4) 12:10;
    55:9,15;68:3
statements (1) 36:22
State's (3) 8:3,16;45:7
statewide (1) 5:20
stations (1) 50:14
status (1) 51:16
stay (1) 35:3
staying (1) 60:22
step (3) 37:21;49:11;
    69:20
Stephanie (1) 4:15
steps (2) 35:5;55:3
still (6) 7:22;9:2;33:9;
    34:5;44:3;62:15
stop (1) 11:16
stopped (2) 11:17,18
stops (2) 10:23;34:23

straddling (1) 40:23
strategically (1) 59:6
strategies (1) 48:2
stress (1) 17:14
strings (1) 43:24
stronger (1) 17:20
stuff (6) 25:11;42:11;
    54:19;61:24;63:3;
    64:21
subject (6) 42:7,9,14,
    22,25;65:6
submit (1) 46:17
submits (1) 6:19
submitted (1) 29:17
Subsequently (1) 16:4
substantially (1) 47:12
succinct (1) 13:24
sued (1) 44:2
suggestion (1) 63:24
suit (2) 41:23;42:1
summarize (1) 41:2
summary (7) 13:24;
    14:10;39:15;41:7,8;
    44:25;45:18
super (1) 57:23
Superior (1) 42:15
supervisors (1) 59:22
supplement (2) 6:1,5
supply (1) 31:9
support (1) 69:6
supportive (1) 40:7
supposed (3) 24:17;
    33:17,18
Supreme (5) 7:15,22;
    44:7;45:13;46:8
sure (25) 6:22;10:6;
    12:2,3;21:19;22:15;
    29:21;30:2;33:24;34:6;
    35:23;36:21;37:2,4,17;
    52:18;55:22;56:2;
    58:12;61:10,20;65:12,
    22;67:11;68:24
surprise (2) 31:3;67:10
surprised (1) 22:8
sustain (1) 63:20
swift (1) 38:4
swiftly (1) 13:18
system (8) 26:8,18,21;
    32:23;33:7;66:16;68:4,
    14
systems (1) 7:4

T

tactic (1) 65:13
takeaways (3) 55:24;
    58:9;61:6
talk (6) 18:8;25:25;
    32:19;52:24;53:1;
    67:18
talked (2) 44:17;58:7
talking (6) 12:1;22:1;
    29:8;53:23;62:3;67:22

tasked (1) 15:10
team (7) 16:17;17:7;
    28:19;54:3,4,4;64:6
tear (2) 29:10,11
technical (4) 22:11;
    23:17;24:25;35:17
technicalities (2) 14:7,
    14
technically (3) 19:25;
    22:16;24:20
technology (1) 14:7
television (1) 50:14
tend (2) 68:13,14
tens (1) 27:19
term (2) 15:23;17:9
terms (15) 9:1,1;15:17;
    17:13;18:8,23,24;48:1;
    57:12,13,14,14,15;
    69:16,21
testament (1) 13:19
theory (1) 6:8
therefore (1) 40:21
thinking (2) 15:25;68:3
third (1) 63:1
THOMAS (3) 4:4;
    23:21,23
though (3) 39:20;
    67:13;68:15
thought (7) 12:10,19;
    30:25;31:8;52:18,25;
    53:4
thousands (2) 27:16,19
three (6) 38:25;39:6;
    47:18;58:8,8;63:6
thrilled (1) 52:8
thrust (1) 40:13
Thursday (2) 11:11;
    14:17
timeline (6) 11:2;13:1,
    25;14:15;17:4;19:20
timeliness (1) 25:17
Times (1) 5:4
timing (1) 48:6
tired (1) 52:7
Titla (1) 4:2
title (1) 24:21
today (4) 19:14;37:9,
    15;53:23
together (6) 11:1;37:7;
    50:8,25;51:1;69:5
toggling (1) 23:14
Tom (19) 4:3,9;7:7;
    10:3;17:19,23;19:10,
    19;28:22;34:17;36:16;
    38:13;49:25;57:4;
    65:24;66:4,20;67:4;
    68:23
tone (4) 19:10;31:1;
    37:14;51:14
took (2) 13:19;25:22
top (5) 14:16;18:3;
    63:3,7;68:8
topic (1) 15:24

touch (1) 65:11
track (1) 18:16
tracked (1) 14:25
traffic (1) 28:5
transparency (2) 14:4;
    21:7
transpired (1) 14:2
treated (2) 7:13,18
tremendous (1) 13:11
trial (2) 9:12,14
Tricia (5) 14:11;23:12,
    25;26:9;32:19
tried (2) 35:20;65:6
triggering (1) 33:8
true (1) 22:10
try (7) 4:11;10:19;
    19:22;41:3;55:21,22;
    65:11
trying (3) 5:16;9:3;
    18:18
Tucson (6) 4:20;6:3;
    50:14,15;53:12;56:21
turn (1) 51:10
turning (1) 53:6
turnout (3) 58:25;66:21,
    22
TV (3) 51:8;56:19,20
tweeting (1) 56:21
Twist (6) 12:16;36:18;
    37:2,4,6;38:11
Twitter (2) 56:24,25
two (15) 14:20,21;
    18:21;31:21;39:8,8,25;
    40:23;41:5;44:22;
    47:15;53:9;62:9,13;
    68:22
type (10) 13:7;14:8;
    27:2;29:8;30:11,11,24;
    31:9;63:3;65:9
Typically (3) 24:14;
    27:18;37:24

U

ultimately (3) 34:22,22;
    59:6
unable (1) 11:2
unanimously (1) 3:25
unanswered (1) 18:23
unauthorized (2) 8:24;
    15:2
unbelievable (1) 44:11
uncovered (1) 15:16
under (4) 21:20;27:13;
    40:11;49:14
underlying (1) 57:15
underspending (1)
    33:25
understood (1) 42:8
undertaking (1) 19:1
undetected (3) 16:11;
    26:16;27:7
unequivocally (1) 28:20

unfortunately (3) 25:16;
    51:7;64:16
unless (3) 8:17;32:25;
    59:3
unvoted (1) 8:19
up (18) 11:8,25;22:6;
    23:12;27:13;47:14;
    53:11;54:7,7,9,9;56:10,
    20;59:21,23;60:11;
    65:18;69:7
update (1) 46:1
upload (1) 24:10
uploaded (1) 27:14
Upon (3) 13:17;29:1;
    30:3
URL (1) 33:20
use (5) 14:7;31:2;
    33:15;34:2;65:3
used (2) 7:14,14
user (3) 20:16;29:20,24
using (3) 15:22;69:19,
    19
usually (4) 24:2;29:7;
    30:5,7
utilize (5) 29:19;31:11;
    34:5;65:13,19
utilizes (1) 29:18
utmost (1) 36:6

V

valid (1) 62:7
validates (1) 52:3
value (1) 57:14
variety (1) 67:21
vendors (1) 18:14
verbal (1) 13:24
verification (2) 29:8;
    33:1
verify (2) 30:6;32:20
versus (1) 39:4
veto (1) 43:1
vets (1) 18:14
vetting (1) 69:10
VI (1) 49:22
video (3) 51:1,11,12
view (2) 36:4;62:2
viewed (1) 26:1
viewpoints (1) 68:14
views (5) 15:5,23;
    52:17;53:2;69:22
VII (1) 70:7
VIII (1) 70:10
violation (1) 42:14
Vote (29) 4:24;42:23;
    53:6;54:11;55:2,18;
    58:4,4;59:10,16,17,19,
    21;60:2,16,20,23;61:3,
    3,4,4,17,25;62:11;64:1;
    67:7,24;70:1,14
voted (2) 8:18;68:8
voter (25) 4:14;5:14,15;
    6:22;7:5,18;10:1,19,23,

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(79) sound - voter



The State of Arizona 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission

Public Session Transcript of Proceedings
July 19, 2018

    25;18:14,15;20:23;
    30:9;35:3,20;39:23;
    40:14;49:23;51:23;
    54:24;55:5;57:15;
    67:18;69:21
voters (21) 8:1,15;9:1;
    18:18;28:12,13;35:5;
    51:25;53:13;55:4,9,11;
    58:10,18;59:1,9,9;
    60:5;63:12;65:16;
    69:15
votes (1) 60:22
voting (9) 50:3,5;55:2,
    23;58:12;59:4;60:21;
    61:14;62:23

W

wants (3) 44:19;69:3;
    70:8
watch (1) 10:9
way (16) 7:14,15,18,23;
    23:8,22;24:6,6;32:8,9;
    33:14;34:4;37:21;
    54:23,24;63:17
ways (1) 42:16
web (1) 21:4
website (3) 9:5;51:2,4
Wednesday (1) 45:10
week (7) 4:17,24;
    14:17;18:9;21:24;51:8;
    67:5
weekly (2) 17:8;27:20
weeks (1) 25:22
weight (1) 60:21
weighted (1) 61:5
welcome (1) 56:3
what's (4) 21:4;26:6;
    37:13;47:25
WHEELOCK (5) 50:21;
    56:9,12,15,15
whereas (1) 6:22
Whereupon (1) 70:22
whole (4) 17:19;54:19;
    57:11;69:10
widely (1) 67:9
wife (1) 61:16
wildly (1) 53:2
wings (1) 62:2
Within (9) 14:25;18:9;
    21:17,17;22:20;23:2;
    33:10;35:3;51:17
without (3) 6:20;22:12;
    51:5
withstand (1) 52:20
woman (1) 61:19
wonder (1) 67:25
wondering (1) 68:5
word (6) 14:21;16:6;
    20:20;27:17;32:1;
    47:13
wording (1) 46:16
words (11) 20:18;27:5,

    16,19,22;30:8;32:22;
    33:4,17,20;51:19
work (27) 4:16;6:9;
    13:7;15:11;22:22;26:9,
    11;28:20;30:9;31:12;
    33:4,5;36:9;38:5;40:4;
    51:18,25;52:1,3;54:3;
    55:8;57:18;59:5;62:19;
    65:21;66:17;70:4
worked (6) 7:21;11:4,
    19;52:1;62:18;69:22
working (16) 8:10;
    11:17;18:17,21;19:20,
    21;21:14;25:2;33:12;
    35:1;37:20;41:23;50:6,
    7,25;65:12
works (9) 5:11,25;6:9,
    9;12:21,22;19:25;
    33:10;55:4
world (1) 7:23
worse (1) 60:8
worth (1) 48:5
written (4) 16:4,21;
    22:25;47:14
wrong (7) 6:17;10:14;
    13:14;31:1,1;47:2;
    69:25
wrote (1) 10:5

X

X'ers (1) 54:9

Y

year (5) 5:2,16;58:13;
    66:9,9
years (6) 5:2;18:21;
    37:8;52:2;62:14;65:7
yesterday (3) 41:8;
    56:18;60:19
you-all (1) 52:6
Yuma (1) 6:4

1

1.2 (1) 58:3
1:30 (1) 45:11
10:25 (1) 14:23
10:27 (1) 15:4
10:45 (1) 49:17
104,000 (1) 56:19
10th (2) 8:13;9:11
11:15 (1) 70:23
12 (1) 56:25
14 (1) 66:23
15 (1) 50:14
1516 (2) 39:25;40:20
169 (1) 15:5
18 (1) 54:22
19 (1) 3:5
19th (1) 49:21

2

2 (3) 40:11;63:3;68:8
2,557 (1) 15:5
2.5000 (1) 57:1
2007 (6) 39:7;41:4;
    42:1;44:14,21;48:11
2014 (2) 63:12;66:20
2016 (3) 58:5;59:17;
    65:15
2018 (3) 3:9,14;54:22
22 (1) 56:24
28th (3) 3:9,14,18

3

300 (1) 55:17
329 (1) 56:24

4

4 (2) 42:19,20
4-0 (1) 49:9
45 (4) 15:1;54:10;
    59:15,15
458,000 (1) 58:4

5

5,711 (1) 56:23
506,000 (1) 56:17

6

65 (1) 57:1

7

7 (2) 40:14;66:21
7,343 (1) 56:22
7:00 (1) 15:6
70 (1) 50:12
700 (1) 56:22

8

8:00 (1) 11:15

9

9:30 (1) 3:6
9:53 (2) 14:17,23

Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

(80) voters - 9:53



ITEM III 

CITIZENS CLEAN ELECTIONS COMMISSION
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT

September 27, 2018
Announcements:

 The public can view Commission meetings live via the internet at
www.livestream.com/cleanelections. A link is available on our website.

 Stephanie has accepted a position with the Pinal County Elections Department, and her last
day with the Commission will be October 5th. Stephanie will continue to serve voters in her
new role as Elections Supervisor. She will work directly with the Elections Director, Michele
Forney, and oversee critical functions in the administration of elections. This includes ballot
creation and tabulation, managing the department’s staff in facilitating the election, and
ensuring compliance with election laws and procedures.

Voter Education:

 Voter Education Guides will arrive in homes, beginning October 4th. The digital version is
available on the CCEC website.

 Debates are still underway, and videos are available for viewing on demand on the
website.

 The Gubernatorial Debate was held on Monday, September 24, 2018.
 Staff participated in National Voter Registration Day on September 25, 2018, hosting a

registration and education booth at ASU’s main campus.
 Gina and Alec hosted a voter education workshop on September 20th at Glendale

Community College, as a part of their celebration of Constitution Week.
 A wheat pasting of the CCEC Take Flight mural was installed at Scottsdale Community

College and Mesa Community College, as a means of encouraging youth to register to
vote. SCC and MCC reached out directly to the Commission to request the installations,
as a part of their commitment to promoting civic involvement.

2018 Candidate Information: 

 Participating Legislative Candidates: 44; Received General Funding: 44

 Participating Statewide Candidates: 5; Received General Funding: 5

Enforcement – 2018:

 MUR 18-04: Kathy Hoffman – Closed pursuant to R2-20-206(A)(3).
 MUR 18-05 Wendy Garcia – Closed pursuant to R2-20-206(A)(3).
 MUR 18-07- One Arizona- this agenda.
 MUR 18-09 Daria Lohman – Closed pursuant to R2-20-206(A)(3).
 MUR 18-10 Eric Kurland – Closed pursuant to R2-20-206(A)(3).
 MUR 18-11 Bill Pierce– Closed pursuant to R2-20-206(A)(3).
 MUR 18-12 American Strong PAC – this agenda.
 MUR 18-13- Kiana Sears – Pending
 MUR 18-14 US Term Limits – Pending

1

http://www.livestream.com/cleanelections


ITEM III 

NOTE:  Two complaints were filed against Ken Bennett.  However, because he failed to qualify 
and is no longer a participating candidate, we do not anticipate further Commission action on 
those complaints.  

Miscellaneous

 Legacy Foundation Action Fund
o As you know, the Superior Court in Maricopa County granted our motion

to dismiss LFAF’s effort to block our collection suit and denied LFAF’s
motion to dismiss.  LFAF wants to expedite Superior Court resolution for
appeal and we are working on that.

 AZAN v. Reagan et. al.
o Oral Argument on motions for summary judgment were postponed after a

Superior Court judge disqualified herself.  A new judge has been
assigned and oral argument is now set for October 3 at 9:30 AM. Let me
know if you would like more details.

2



State of Arizona 

Citizens Clean Elections Commission 

1616 W. Adams - Suite 110 - Phoenix, Arizona  85007 - Tel (602) 364-3477 - Fax (602) 364-3487 - www.azcleanelections.gov 

MEMORANDUM 
To:  Commissioners  

From: Mike Becker, Policy Director  

Date:  September 24, 2018 

Subject: 2018 Calendar Year Budget Update 

Fund Balance 

The 2018 beginning fund balance was $28,674,338. As of September 1, 2018, the fund balance was $27,257,065.  
The fund decreased in the first eight months of 2018 by $1,417,273. 

Revenues 

The Commission received $5,280,106 in total revenues in the first eight months of 2018 - an average of $660,013 in 
revenues per month. The Commission projected 2018 monthly revenues in the amount of $603,125. The average 
monthly revenues are slightly above the Commission’s 2018 average monthly projection. 

Expenditure Cap on Total Expenses  

The Commission’s approved expenditure cap in 2018 is $20,668,270.1 The Commission has not exceeded the 
expenditure cap in first eight months of 2018. 

Specific Categories of Expenses  

The Commission categorizes operating expenses using four categories under the expenditure cap2: 

Administrative & Enforcement 

The Commission’s approved administrative and enforcement expenditure cap in 2018 is $2,066,827.3 The 
Commission’s approved administrative and enforcement budget is $1,928,800. 

The Commission’s actual expenditures in the first eight months of 2018 were $453,772. 

1 The Commission projects an expenditure cap for each calendar year for all expenses under the Act, including candidate funding. 
A.R.S. § 16-949. 
2 Overhead costs are apportioned by a 50/50 split between Administration/Enforcement and Voter Education.  Personal Services 
and Employee Related Expenses are apportioned by allocated staff-time between administration/enforcement and voter education 
responsibilities. 
3 The Commission may spend up to 10 percent of the calendar year expenditure cap for administrative and enforcement costs. 
A.R.S. §16-949 (B). 

Doug Ducey 
Governor 

Thomas M. Collins
Executive Director 

Damien R. Meyer
Chair 

Steve M. Titla
Mark S. Kimble
Galen D. Paton
Amy B. Chan
Commissioners 

3ITEM III



Public Education 

The Commission’s approved public education expenditure cap and approved budget amount in 2018 is 
$2,066,827.4 

The Commission’s actual expenditures in the first eight months of 2018 were $294,069. 

Voter Education and Implementation of the Act 

The Commission’s approved budget for 2018 voter education and implementation expenditures is 
$4,589,100.5  

The Commission’s actual voter education and implementation expenditures in the first eight months of 
2018 were $1,084,029. 

Candidate Funding 

As of September 1st, total Candidate funding is $3,675,761. 

4 The Commission may apply up to ten percent of the yearly expenditure cap for reasonable and necessary expense associated 
with public education, including participation and the purposes of the Act. A.R.S. §16-949 (C). 
5 The Commission may make reasonable and necessary expenditures to implement the Act, including expenditures for voter 
education pursuant to A.R.S. 16-956(A).  A.R.S. § 16-949(D).  Reasonable and necessary expenditures are not subject to any cap. 
Id. 

4ITEM III



1 

STATE OF ARIZONA 
CITIZENS CLEAN ELECTIONS COMMISSION 

MUR 18-12  
American Strong PAC  

STATEMENT OF REASONS OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

On behalf of the Citizens Clean Elections Commission (“Commission”), the 

Executive Director hereby provides the following Statement of Reasons why there 

is reason to believe that a violation of the Citizens Clean Elections Act and 

Commission rules (collectively, the “Act”) may have occurred. 

I. Background

On August 24, 2018, I filed a Complaint against American Strong PAC

(Respondent) alleging that Respondent had failed to file Clean Elections 

Independent Expenditure Reports related to expenditures in opposition to 

Representative Michelle Ugenti-Rita as nominee for the State Senate in District 23. 

Exhibit 1.  Respondent filed a timely response candidly admitting it had mistakenly 

filled out certain campaign finance reports and failed to file Clean Elections 

Reports. Exhibit 2.  On August 27, Respondent filed a Clean Election Report via 

the Commission’s own online form. Exhibit 3.  Because there is no dispute that the 

filing was late, I recommend the Commission find a reason to believe that a 

violation may have occurred.   

Recommendation  

After the Commission finds reason to believe that a violation of a statute or 

rule over which the Commission has jurisdiction has occurred, the Commission 

ITEM V - MUR 18-12 - RTB 1



2 

shall conduct an investigation. Ariz. Admin. Code R2-20-209(A).  The 

Commission may authorize the Executive Director to subpoena all of the 

Respondent’s records documenting disbursements, debts, or obligations to the 

present, and may authorize an audit. 

Upon expiration of the fourteen (14) days, if the Commission finds that the 

alleged violator remains out of compliance, the Commission shall make a public 

finding to that effect and issue an order assessing a civil penalty in accordance with 

A.R.S. § 16-942, unless the Commission publishes findings of fact and conclusions 

of law expressing good cause for reducing or excusing the penalty.  A.R.S. § 16-

957(B).   

After fourteen (14) days and upon completion of the investigation, the 

Executive Director will recommend whether the Commission should find probable 

cause to believe that a violation of a statute or rule over which the Commission has 

jurisdiction has occurred.  Ariz. Admin. Code R2-20-214(A).  Upon a finding of 

probable cause that the alleged violator remains out of compliance, by an 

affirmative vote of at least three (3) of its members, the Commission may issue of 

an order and assess civil penalties pursuant to A.R.S. § 16-957(B).  Ariz. Admin. 

Code R2-20-217.    

Dated this 10th day of September, 2018. 

2



3 

By:  S/Thomas M. Collins 

 Thomas M. Collins, Executive Director 

3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



Name: 

Address: 

Telephone Number. 

cmZENS CLEAN ELECTIONS COMMISSION 
Independent Expenditure Report 

Puisuant lo A.R.S. §§1°6-941(0),-956 -958, and A.AC. R2-20-109{F) 

City . I Slate

,� 
-

-
-

-- j_
Fax

_
N
_

um
-
ber

_
: 

_____ _ 
11-Na_me_o_f Aulh_o_rized_A_gen_t:________ i Teleohone Number: --1 E-m

.
ail Address: -

b r 

t 
Aul!ioozed Agent Address (ifdil!erent from above): 

r 
I.
State 

I
Zio 

Date of ·Expendlure (i.e. 5130J2018) Amount of Expenditure Q.e. $5,000.00) 

OFFICIAL US£ ONLY 

a Received __ 

All persons, including corporations, limited liability companies, and labor organizations, are required to file independent expenditure 
reports under A.R.S. §§ 16-941(0); -958 & Ariz. Admin. Code R2-20-109(F). Please fdl out, scan and return to the Arizona Citizens Clean 
Elections Commission, ccec@azdeaneleclions.gov.
Forms received within 24 hours of the due date will be considered timely. 

Failure to file the form and submit the information required subjects an entity that makes independent expenditures to penalties under the Clean 
Elections Act unless the entity receives an exemption from the Conmission. Exemption forms are available at www.azcleanetecljons.goy 

Please contact ccec@azdeanelections.goy or 602-364-34n with questions. 

I, the undersigned, certify that the above statements are true and accurate lo the best of my knowledge and belief: 

Signature of Authorized Agent 

07/20/2018

City 

12

EXHIBIT 3



Conciliation Agreement - 1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

STATE OF ARIZONA 

CITIZENS CLEAN ELECTIONS COMMISSION 

In the Matter of: 

American Strong PAC, Respondent 

MUR No. 18-12 

[Proposed] CONCILIATION AGREEMENT 

Pursuant to ARS § 16-957(A), the Citizens Clean Elections Commission (the “Commission”), 

House Victory PAC (Respondent) enter this Conciliation Agreement (the “Conciliation Agreement”) in 

the manner described below: 

A. American PAC did not timely file certain reports required by the Commission related to

spending on behalf certain candidates.  The Commission finds that these failures 

demonstrate there is reason to believe Respondent may have committed a violation of 

the Citizens Clean Elections Act and Commission rules (collectively, the “Act”). 

B. A.R.S. § 16-941(D) states that “any person who makes independent expenditures 

related to a particular office” in excess of certain amounts must report such 

expenditures to the Secretary of State.  A.R.S. § 16-956(A)(7) provides that the 

Commission has authority to enforce the Act and Rules, to include the assessment of 

penalties that apply for failure to file reports. 

C. The Executive Director filed Complaint August 27, 2018.  Respondent was cooperative.

It responded within 23 minutes of the initial email noticing, explaining that we will "look 

at our records and respond as soon as possible."  Less than four hours later, it 

submitted a formal response admitting our error and changed our filing with the SOS's 

ITEM V - DRAFT Conciliation



 

Conciliation Agreement - 2 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

office.  At 4:39 that day it  received the Clean Elections Form, which was submitted to 

you on Monday, and the notarized copy was provided to the following Tuesday. 

D. This Conciliation Agreement concludes the Commission’s enforcement proceeding 

respecting the Complaint and additional reports that Respondent should have timely 

filed.   

WHEREFORE, the Commission enters the following orders in lieu of any other action regarding this 

matter: 

1. The Commission has jurisdiction over persons subject to ARS 16-941(D) and 16-958, 

including political committees.  Respondent disputes this jurisdiction, but avows that the 

Campaign Finance Reporting System did not prompt it to make any reports as called 

for in those statutes, and it had no knowledge of the Commission’s efforts to provide 

alternative electronic means of filing.  

2. Pursuant to A.R.S. §§ 16-941(D) and -958 any person who makes an independent 

expenditure above a threshold set forth in the Clean Elections Act must file reports 

required by the person and that under A.R.S. § 16-942(B) the statutory penalty for any 

reporting violation on behalf of a candidate is up to $880 per day up to twice the value 

of the unreported amount.  Respondent disputes that its expenditures were subject to 

the reporting requirements set forth in A.R.S. §§ 16-941(D) and -958 and disputes the 

Commission’s authority under A.R.S. § 16-942(B) to assess any statutory penalty in 

connection with such expenditures.        

3. Respondent agrees to settles this matter for $500, in addition to the other provisions 

herein.  This amount represents a reimbursement of costs associated with the 

Complaing.  

4. Respondent shall pay to the Clean Elections Fund $500 by October 1, 2018 and before 

terminating the Committee.  



 

Conciliation Agreement - 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

5. All payments shall be made by check or money order payable to the Citizens Clean 

Elections Fund and delivered to the Citizens Clean Elections Commission, 1616 West 

Adams, Suite 110, Phoenix, Arizona, 85007. 

6. The Commission shall not commence any legal action against Respondent to collect 

fines under the Complaint so long as Respondent is not in default. 

7. Respondent shall be in default of this Agreement upon the occurrence of any of the 

following: 

a. Respondent fails to make any payment required hereunder within five (5) working 

days following the date due; 

b. Respondent files a petition under the bankruptcy laws or any creditor of the 

Respondent files any petition under said laws against the Respondent;   

c. Any creditor of Respondent commences a foreclosure action to foreclose (by suit 

or trustee sale) on real property of the Respondent or commences garnishment, 

attachment, levy or execution against the Respondent’s property; or; 

d. Respondent provides false information to the Commission. 

e. Respondent fails to abide by any provision of this agreement.  

f. Respondent fails to file any campaign finance report or notice required by Chapter 

6 of Title 16, Arizona Revised Statutes.  

8. In the event of default hereunder, at the option of the Commission, all amounts 

available under the Complaint immediately due and payable and the Commission may.  

In addition, interest shall accrue on the unpaid balance from the date that the payments 

become due and payable.  Interest shall accrue at the statutory rate of ten percent 

(10%) pursuant to A.R.S. § 44-1201(A). 

9. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent any state agency 

which issues licenses for any profession from requiring that the debt in issue be paid in 

full before said agency will issue Respondent a new license. 



 

Conciliation Agreement - 4 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

10. The Commission may waive any condition of default without waiving any other 

condition of default and without waiving its rights to full, timely future performance of 

the conditions waived.   

11. In the event legal action is necessary to enforce collection hereunder, Respondent shall 

additionally pay all costs and expenses of collection, including without limitation, 

reasonable attorneys’ fees in an amount equal to thirty-five percent (35%) of monies 

recovered. 

12. Respondent acknowledges that all obligations payable pursuant to this Agreement 

constitute a fine, penalty, or forfeiture payable to and for the benefit of a governmental 

unit, and not compensation for actual pecuniary loss; and that pursuant to 11 USC § 

523 such obligations are not subject to discharge in bankruptcy. 

13. This Agreement shall be construed under the laws of the State of Arizona. 

14. In the event that any paragraph or provision hereof shall be ruled unenforceable, all 

other provisions hereof shall be unaffected thereby. 

15. This Agreement shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties regarding the 

subject matter.  This Agreement shall not be modified or amended except in a writing 

signed by all parties hereto. 

16. This Agreement shall not be subject to assignment. 

17. No delay, omission or failure by the Commission to exercise any right or power 

hereunder shall be construed to be a waiver or consent of any breach of any of the 

terms of this Agreement by the Respondent. 

18. By entering into this Agreement, the Respondent does not waive any rights, claims, 

defenses or arguments in any subsequent proceeding before the Commission or any 

agency, court or other tribunal. 

19. Respondent has obtained independent legal advice in connection with the execution of 

this Agreement or have freely chosen not to do so.  Any rule construing this Agreement 

against the drafter is inapplicable and is waived. 



 

Conciliation Agreement - 5 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

20. This Agreement shall be void unless executed by the Respondent and delivered to the 

Commission not later than January 23, 2017.   

21. All proceedings commenced by the Commission in this matter will be terminated and 

the matter closed upon receipt of the final payment of the civil penalty and compliance 

with the other terms set forth in this Agreement.  
Dated this ___ day ___, 2018. 
 
By:       
 Thomas M. Collins, Executive Director 
 Citizens Clean Elections Commission 
 
 
By:       
 , Respondent 



1 

STATE OF ARIZONA 
CITIZENS CLEAN ELECTIONS COMMISSION 

MUR 18-07  
One Arizona dba Sunlight Arizona 

STATEMENT OF REASONS OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

On behalf of the Citizens Clean Elections Commission (“Commission”), the 

Executive Director hereby provides the following Statement of Reasons why there 

is reason to believe that a violation of the Citizens Clean Elections Act and 

Commission rules (collectively, the “Act”) may have occurred. 

I. Procedural Background

On July 27, 2018, Brett Moll and Michael Francis (“Complainants”) filed a

complaint (“Complaint”) against One Arizona, doing business as Sunlight Arizona 

(“Respondent”) alleging the Respondent violated the Clean Elections Act, namely 

A.R.S. §§ 16-941(D) and 16-958.  The Complaint alleges that Sunlight Arizona is 

expressly advocating against the election or reelection of four Republican 

candidates for the Arizona State Senate, Sylvia Tenney Allen, Frank Pratt, J.D. 

Mesnard, and Kate Brophy-McGee and therefore should register as a political 

committee and file campaign finance reports as prescribed by law.  On August 17, 

2018, through its attorney James E. Barton II, Respondent submitted a response to 

the Complaint.    

II. Alleged Violations

A. The Complaint alleges that the Respondent expressly advocated for the

defeat of the above-mentioned state Senate candidates via direct mail pieces as 

ITEM VI - MUR 18-07 RTB



2 

well as through social media, specifically Facebook, without filing as a political 

committee and without filing campaign finance reports.  The social media posts 

and direct mail pieces were disbursed in June of 2018 and focus on three distinct 

issues; education, energy, and predatory lending.  The pieces in question ask the 

recipients of the pieces to contact the state legislators identified on the piece and 

urge them to “help Arizona’s students,” “stop putting Arizona families’ financial 

future at risk,” and “protect Arizona’s future and hold irresponsible corporations 

accountable.”  

III. Analysis

A. Relevant Evidentiary Standard

At this preliminary stage in Commission proceedings, the Commission need 

only find that there may be reason to believe that the Respondent has committed a 

violation of the Act or Rules.  Ariz. Admin. Code R2-20-208(A).   

B. Relevant Legal Standard

The Clean Elections Act defines expressly advocates, in relevant part as an 

advertisement 

[1.] Making a general public communication, such as in a broadcast medium, 

newspaper, magazine, billboard or direct mailer  

[2.] referring to one or more clearly identified candidates and 

[3.] targeted to the electorate of that candidate(s)  



 

3 
 

[4.] that in context can have no reasonable meaning other than to advocate the 

election or defeat of the candidate(s), as evidenced by factors such as the 

presentation of the candidate(s) in a favorable or unfavorable light, the targeting, 

placement or timing of the communication or the inclusion of statements of the 

candidate(s) or opponents. A.R.S. § 16-901.01(A)(2).   

However, such a communication “shall not be considered as one that 

expressly advocates merely because it presents information about the voting record 

or position on a campaign issue of three or more candidates, so long as it is not 

made in coordination with a candidate, political party, agent of the candidate or 

party or a person who is coordinating with a candidate or candidate's agent.”  Id. § 

16-901.01(B).    

The controlling case for reporting under this standard is Committee for 

Justice in Fairness v. Arizona Secretary of State’s Office (CJF), 235 Ariz. 347 

(App. 2014).  There, the Court held that an advertisement, targeted at the general 

electorate of a candidate who, while not identified as a candidate for the office 

sought, was nevertheless unambiguously a candidate for the office sought, run 

immediately before the election, but criticizing prior actions, did expressly 

advocate defeat.  Id. at 354-55 (citing A.R.S. § 16-901(9)).  

The U.S. Supreme Court case Federal Election Commission v. Wisconsin 

Right to Life (WRTL), 551 U.S. 449 (2007) is persuasive authority here.  That case 

dealt with when an absolute ban on express advocacy could be imposed, in the 



 

4 
 

context of the greater scrutiny that absolute bans require.  Id. at 464-65.  That case 

held that, in order to impose a ban on express advocacy under the then-existing 

federal standard, the advertisement in question must, objectively be the functional 

equivalent of express advocacy “only if the ad is susceptible of no reasonable 

interpretation other than as an appeal to vote for or against a specific candidate.”  

Id. at 470.   

Respondents make no effort to distinguish the variety of advertisements in 

the complaint.  Rather, they make the blanket assertion that under the Act (A.R.S. 

§ 16-901.01), CJF, and WRTL, each advertisement is “issue advocacy” for which 

no reporting is required.  Respondent’s arguments, however, ignore key differences 

in both CJF and WRTL.  

First, Respondents assert that “[t]he mailers do not identify any of the 

elected officials as candidates.”  Response at 2.  However, CJF makes clear that 

under Arizona law, a candidate is clearly identified not based on a reference to 

their status as candidates but whether when the advertisement was run the 

candidate(s) “had been clearly identified to the general populace” as candidates for 

the State Senate.  235 Ariz. at 354.  Indeed, Representative Mesnard was the 

unopposed candidate for the LD17 State Senate seat GOP nomination.  The same 

is true for Senator Pratt in Legislative District 8.  Senator Brophy McGee was a 

candidate for the LD28 State Senate seat GOP nomination.  Senator Sylvia Allen at 

one point faced potential opposition for the GOP nomination, but that did not 



 

5 
 

materialize.  All would face Democratic opponents in the general election.  All had 

filed the paperwork necessary to be candidates for state Senate in their respective 

districts.  In other words, each elected official had been identified to their districts 

as candidates.  See CJF, 235 Ariz. at 354.  

 Respondents also attempt to distinguish CJF on the basis that the 

advertisement there was “aired days before the identified individual was to leave 

the office allegedly the target of the ad.”  Response at 3.  However, the former 

Superintendent targeted by the CJF ads would serve in office for two months after 

the November election.  Thus, this distinction is not consistent with the context of 

CJF.  This argument also does not distinguish the mailers, which according to 

Complainants were sent after the 2018 legislative session adjourned. After the 

legislative session adjourns in an election year, unless the Governor calls the 

Legislature back into special session to address specific topics, legislators will not 

propose or vote on any further legislation unless they are re-elected to serve 

another term.  Thus, Respondents attempt to distinguish the mailers from CJF 

based on the timing fails.    

Respondents argue that their purpose was exactly like the Appellants in 

WRTL—“to educate constituents.” Response at 3.  They focus on language in 

WRTL spelling out “content . . . consistent with that of a genuine issue ad.”  

Response at 3 (quoting WRTL).  However, unlike the ads in WRTL, the mailers do 

“take a position on a candidate’s character, qualifications, or fitness for office.”   



 

6 
 

For example, the mailers regarding Senator Brophy McGee place text immediately 

adjacent to her picture stating:  

 

This language, taken in context, appears to express a view on the “candidate’s 

character, qualifications, or fitness of office.”  The same language and 

juxtaposition appears in the mailers regarding Representative Mesnard, for 

instance.    

Accordingly, Respondents have provided insufficient distinctions, at this 

stage of Commission proceedings, for the Commission to conclude that the mailers 

and internet ads in question are issue advocacy rather than express advocacy.  

Rather, the timing, context and content of the advertisements appear to fall within 

the scope of A.R.S. § 16-901.01 and CJF.  

Other material within the context of the pieces confirms this analysis.  The 

mail piece that was directed at State Senator Brophy McGee clearly states “State 

Senator Brophy McGee voted for a budget that failed to cap class sizes,” and then 

asks the recipient of the mail piece to “Vote to reduce class sizes in 2019!” a 

specific call to action that occurs after the election.  Additionally, as noted above, 

the mail pieces and the social media posts were delivered and posted in June, a 

month after the State Legislature had adjourned sine die leaving no way for State 

representatives or State Senators to draft bills or vote on bills as requested by the 



 

7 
 

mail piece and social media post.  Additionally, the  pieces in question present the 

stated elected official in an unfavorable light as the recipient of the piece is told 

that the elected official “voted FOR HB 2434, which DEREGULATES ‘innovative 

financial products,’ weakens consumer protections, and opens the door to more 

predatory lending.”   

 Based on the definition of express advocacy and the facts stated above, I 

recommend the Commission find a reason to believe that a violation occurred.   

Recommendation  

If the Commission finds reason to believe that a violation of a statute or rule 

over which the Commission has jurisdiction has occurred, the Commission shall 

then conduct an investigation.  Ariz. Admin. Code R2-20-209(A).  The 

Commission may authorize the Executive Director to subpoena all of the 

Respondent’s records documenting disbursements, debts, or obligations to the 

present, and may authorize an audit. 

Upon expiration of the fourteen (14) days, if the Commission finds that the 

alleged violator remains out of compliance, the Commission shall make a public 

finding to that effect and issue an order assessing a civil penalty in accordance with 

A.R.S. § 16-942, unless the Commission publishes findings of fact and conclusions 

of law expressing good cause for reducing or excusing the penalty.  A.R.S. § 16-

957(B).   



 

8 
 

After fourteen (14) days and upon completion of the investigation, the 

Executive Director will recommend whether the Commission should find probable 

cause to believe that a violation of a statute or rule over which the Commission has 

jurisdiction has occurred.  Ariz. Admin. Code R2-20-214(A).  Upon a finding of 

probable cause that the alleged violator remains out of compliance, by an 

affirmative vote of at least three (3) of its members, the Commission may issue an 

order and assess civil penalties pursuant to A.R.S. § 16-957(B).  Ariz. Admin. 

Code R2-20-217.    

     Dated this __th day of September, 2018. 

          
By: 

 

            Thomas M. Collins, Executive Director 
 



ITEM VI - MUR 18-07 Complaint 1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



2239 W. Baseline Rd.  Tempe, AZ 85283 
Office: 480.588.6120  

www.TheTorresFirm.com 

Israel G. Torres 
James E. Barton II  
Saman J. Golestan 

August 17, 2018 

Thomas Collins, Executive Director 
Citizens Clean Elections Commission 
1616 W. Adams, Suite 110 
Phoenix, Arizona 85007 

Re: Issue advocacy complaint against Sunlight Arizona Program CCEC MUR No. 18-07 

Mr. Collins: 

This letter is in response to the complaint being considered under MUR No. 18-07 against 
One Arizona’s transparency project called Sunlight Arizona.  The goal of the project and the 
purpose of the mailers is to educate constituents on the activities of elected officials.  Neither the 
project nor the individual pieces expressly advocate for the election or defeat of a candidate; nor 
do they even mention any election.  The pieces urge constituents to contact their elected officials 
and let them know the values and issues that are important to them.  There is no reason to believe 
that a violation happened here, and we urge the Commission to find as such. 

Discussion 

The Commission’s analysis of this complaint begins and ends with express advocacy. 

A. For the purposes of this chapter, “expressly advocates” means:

1. Conveying a communication containing a phrase such as “vote
for,” “elect,” “reelect,” “support,” “endorse,” “cast your ballot
for,” “(name of candidate) in (year),” “(name of candidate) for
(office),” “vote against,” “defeat,” “reject” or a campaign slogan or
words that in context can have no reasonable meaning other than to
advocate the election or defeat of one or more clearly identified
candidates.

2. Making a general public communication, such as in a broadcast
medium, newspaper, magazine, billboard or direct mailer referring
to one or more clearly identified candidates and targeted to the
electorate of that candidate(s) that in context can have no
reasonable meaning other than to advocate the election or defeat of

ITEM VI - Response 08-17-18 1



2 

the candidate(s), as evidenced by factors such as the presentation 
of the candidate(s) in a favorable or unfavorable light, the 
targeting, placement or timing of the communication or the 
inclusion of statements of the candidate(s) or opponents. 

A.R.S. § 16-901.01.  In the instant case there were no “magic words” found in paragraph 1.  
The use of “vote” must refer to urging the recipient of the communication vote for the candidate 
clearly identified in the communication.  Urging the recipient to contact an elected official and 
ask the official to vote while in session based on certain values does not satisfy the test. 

Paragraph 2 addresses public communications, which the targeted mailers unquestionably 
were.  It next requires the communication clearly identify a candidate and be targeted to the 
electorate of the candidate.  The mailers do not identify any of the elected officials as candidates, 
but with the exception to be discussed below they do identify people who are candidates.  
Similarly, the most relevant constituency to an elected official is exactly the electorate of the 
candidate.  We do not concede that this prong is satisfied, but it is not relevant because the last 
prong is plainly not met. 

The communication must be such that “in context can have no reasonable meaning other than 
to advocate the election or defeat of the candidate.”  Not so, here.  The mail provides a 
mechanism to contact the elected official.  It promotes a particular issue and does not refer to any 
upcoming election.  It was more than 60 days before even the primary election.   

One Arizona, a non-profit covered under Section 501(c)(3) of the IRC, produced ads exactly 
in line with those produced by Wisconsin Right to Life in the seminal case on the issue of 
express advocacy.  In FEC v. WRTL, the U.S. Supreme Court considered whether television ads 
chiding Wisconsin’s Senators for filibustering judicial appointments constituted express 
advocacy against the Senators as candidates.  The Court held it did not as follows: 

In light of these considerations, a court should find that an ad is the 
functional equivalent of express advocacy only if the ad is 
susceptible of no reasonable interpretation other than as an appeal 
to vote for or against a specific candidate. Under this test, WRTL's 
three ads are plainly not the functional equivalent of express 
advocacy. First, their content is consistent with that of a genuine 
issue ad: The ads focus on a legislative issue, take a position on the 
issue, exhort the public to adopt that position, and urge the public 
to contact public officials with respect to the matter. Second, their 
content lacks indicia of express advocacy: The ads do not mention 
an election, candidacy, political party, or challenger; and they do 

2



3 

not take a position on a candidate's character, qualifications, or 
fitness for office. 

Fed. Election Comm'n v. Wisconsin Right To Life, Inc., 551 U.S. 449, 469–70 (2007).  One 
Arizona’s project to educate constituents is identical to that of Wisconsin Right to Life’s.  
Attached is a mailer from another component of the program in which the Commission can see 
that an elected official who is not running for reelection is identified.  This should put to bed any 
concerns the Commission has that this program can have no other reasonable meaning than 
influencing elections.  To the contrary, it is classic issue advocacy endorsed by the United States 
Supreme Court. 

Note, the mailers are quite distinct from those of Comm. for Justice & Fairness v. Arizona 
Sec'y of State's Office, 235 Ariz. 347, 354–55, ¶ 29 (App. 2014).  In that case, the ad was aired 
days before the identified individual was to leave the office allegedly the target of the ad.  It was 
addressing salacious accusations against the work a candidate for AG did while he had been 
Superintendent of Public Schools. Id. In the instant case, each of these mailers are addressed to 
current officeholders, long before the election, addressing real issues that they consider while in 
session and asking constituents to contact them.   

This is not express advocacy, and there is no reason to believe there was a violation here. 

Sincerely, 

James E. Barton II 

I, Montserrat Arredondo, as Executive Director of One Arizona, affirm the above is true and 
correct. 

____________________________________________ 
Montserrat Arredondo 

_________________________ 
Date 

3



Predatory lenders 
can be hard to recognize, but they 
put all families AT RISK.

Did your legislator vote  
to protect Arizona’s families 
against predatory lenders? 

LEARN 
MORE    4



One Arizona  
530 E McDowell Road
Suite 107-448
Phoenix, AZ 85004

OAZ18008_L17

The Arizona legislature recently passed a law that allows mortgage companies  
and consumer lenders to sell new, untested financial products to as many as 10,000 
customers before they need real licensing.1 

State Senator STEVE YARBROUGH and State Representative J.D. MESNARD
voted FOR HB 2434,2 which DEREGULATES “innovative financial products,” weakens 
consumer protections, and opens the door to more predatory lending.

Steve Yarbrough at (602) 926-5863 and 
J.D. Mesnard at (602) 926-4481 and tell them to
stop putting Arizona families’ financial future at risk.

1. Forbes.com, 3/23/18; 2. HB 2434, 2/22/18; 3/21/18

State Lawmakers Should Represent Our Interests
State lawmakers make important decisions that affect our daily lives. It’s important that they create policies that help all Arizonans, not just the 
powerful few.

Sunlight Arizona is a non-profit, non-partisan project with the mission of educating Arizona’s families and working people about important economic
policy issues. Our goal is to ensure that our state government is working for everyone. To learn more visit:  SunlightArizona.org

Arizona’s lawmakers should protect 
us from predatory lenders.

NONPROFIT ORG
US POSTAGE
PAID

DS

CALL 

5



Predatory lenders 
can be hard to recognize, but they 
put all families AT RISK.

Did your legislator vote  
to protect Arizona’s families 
against predatory lenders? 

LEARN 
MORE    6



One Arizona  
530 E McDowell Road
Suite 107-448
Phoenix, AZ 85004

OAZ18008_L17

The Arizona legislature recently passed a law that allows mortgage companies  
and consumer lenders to sell new, untested financial products to as many as 10,000 
customers before they need real licensing.1 

State Senator STEVE YARBROUGH and State Representative J.D. MESNARD
voted FOR HB 2434,2 which DEREGULATES “innovative financial products,” weakens 
consumer protections, and opens the door to more predatory lending.

Steve Yarbrough at (602) 926-5863 and 
J.D. Mesnard at (602) 926-4481 and tell them to
stop putting Arizona families’ financial future at risk.

1. Forbes.com, 3/23/18; 2. HB 2434, 2/22/18; 3/21/18

State Lawmakers Should Represent Our Interests
State lawmakers make important decisions that affect our daily lives. It’s important that they create policies that help all Arizonans, not just the 
powerful few.

Sunlight Arizona is a non-profit, non-partisan project with the mission of educating Arizona’s families and working people about important economic 
policy issues. Our goal is to ensure that our state government is working for everyone. To learn more visit:  SunlightArizona.org

Arizona’s lawmakers should protect 
us from predatory lenders.

NONPROFIT ORG
US POSTAGE
PAID

DS

CALL 

7



2239 W. Baseline Rd.  Tempe, AZ 85283 
Office: 480.588.6120  

www.TheTorresFirm.com 
DOC#  2947845.v2-9/19/18 

Israel G. Torres 
James E. Barton II  
Saman J. Golestan 

September 25, 2018 

Citizens Clean Elections Commission 
c/o Thomas Collins, Executive Director 
1616 W. Adams, Suite 110 
Phoenix, Arizona 85007 

Re: CCEC Executive Director’s Statement of Reasons related to Issue advocacy complaint 
against Sunlight Arizona Program, MUR No. 18-07 

Mr. Collins and Commissioners: 

Torres Law Group, PLLC represents One Arizona, and Jim Barton will appear on September 
27, 2018 to speak on behalf of One Arizona, an Arizona non-profit corporation.  This letter is in 
response to the Reason to Believe Memo related to One Arizona and MUR No. 18-07, 
transmitted to the parties on September 10, 2018. It is intended to highlight and clarify 
arguments made in our August 17, 2018, response and to thereby assist the Commission in its 
deliberation following the September 27th meeting. 

Discussion 

It is worth considering the language at issue in this complaint, which frames the entire 
discussion.  Because the piece does not contain any of the so-called “magic words,” the relevant 
portion of the statute is: 

A. For the purposes of this chapter, “expressly advocates” means:

. . . . 

2. Making a general public communication, such as in a broadcast
medium, newspaper, magazine, billboard or direct mailer referring
to one or more clearly identified candidates and targeted to the
electorate of that candidate(s) that in context can have no
reasonable meaning other than to advocate the election or defeat
of the candidate(s), as evidenced by factors such as the
presentation of the candidate(s) in a favorable or unfavorable light,
the targeting, placement or timing of the communication or the
inclusion of statements of the candidate(s) or opponents.

ITEM VI - Response 09-25-18



 
 

2 
 
 

A.R.S. § 16-901.01 (Emphasis added).  The question before the Commission is whether One 
Arizona’s outreach to constituents of elected officials, which explicitly asked the constituent to 
contact his or her elected official and express the identified value to the elected official, can have 
no reasonable meaning other than advocating for the defeat of that elected official.  

The Executive Director’s report states that Committee for Justice in Fairness v. Arizona 
Secretary of State’s Office (CJF), 235 Ariz. 347 (App. 2014) by the Arizona Court of Appeals is 
the “controlling case” in this matter.  While it is true that the Arizona Court of Appeals’ 
examination of the meaning of “express advocacy” is relevant, it did not, and could not have, 
overruled the United States Supreme Court’s ruling in Federal Election Commission v. 
Wisconsin Right to Life (WRTL), 551 U.S. 449 (2007), which was decided based on its 
interpretation of the United States Constitution.  The United States Supreme Court’s rulings are 
not, as the Executive Director suggests, merely “persuasive authority,”  [RTB at 3] because it 
addresses the impact of regulation on Free Speech specifically by expanding the definition of 
express advocacy. 

The language from WRTL is nearly identical to the statute under consideration in the instant 
matter.  WRTL considered whether an “ad is susceptible of no reasonable interpretation other 
than as an appeal to vote for or against a specific candidate.” 551 U.S. at 470.  In the instant case, 
the Commission must consider whether these objected to mailers “in context can have no 
reasonable meaning other than to advocate the election or defeat of the candidate(s).”  A.R.S. § 
16-901.01.  These are the exact same standard.  The Commission is not at liberty to ignore the 
holdings of the United States Supreme Court on the meaning of this phrase.   

While CJF makes clear that the Commission may consider the timing and overall context of 
the ad in assessing whether it can genuinely have no other meaning than the defeat of a targeted 
candidate, it does not allow regulators to do what is recommended here—to cynically view all 
attempts to communicate with the constituents of an elected official as express advocacy.  The 
Commission must determine whether these mailers are of such an extreme nature in both timing 
and content that the Commission can say “in context can have no reasonable meaning other than 
to advocate the election or defeat of the candidate(s).”  If not, the Commission cannot treat this 
piece of issue advocacy as express advocacy. 

Timing 

When determining whether a communication constitutes “express advocacy,” the timing of 
the ad is a contextual factor that may be weighed.  A.R.S. § 16-901.01(a)(2).  But that 
communication’s timing must indicate that it “can have no reasonable meaning other than to 
advocate the election or defeat” of a candidate.  Id.  The ad examined in CJF certainly met this 
standard, as it ran just days before the general election.  The Court of Appeals characterized that 
anti-Horne ad as being run “shortly before the November general election,” 235 Ariz. at 347 ¶ 4, 
such that the timing indicated “the only reasonable purpose for running such an advertisement 



 
 

3 
 
 

immediately before the election was to advocate Horne's defeat as candidate for Attorney 
General,” id. at 355, ¶ 29 (emphasis added).   

Separately, although only relating to federal elections and broadcast communications, it is 
also noteworthy that the Federal Election Commission does not characterize communications as 
“electioneering communications” unless they are at least within 30 days of a primary and 60 
days of a general election.  11 C.F.R. § 100.29. 

One Arizona’s issue advocacy program was not indicative of a “context [that] can have no 
reasonable meaning other than to advocate the election or defeat” of a candidate.  One Arizona 
distributed mail pieces in June 2018.  As the Executive Director mentions, none of the elected 
officials had serious challenges in their August 2018 primary elections, and three of the four had 
no primary opponents at all.  [RTP at 4.]  Thus, as the Executive Director acknowledges, One 
Arizona’s mailers were disseminated more than 130 days—over 18 weeks—before any election 
that would matter to these elected officials in November 2018.  One Arizona’s mailers are hardly 
comparable to the CJF ad in terms of temporal proximity to an election.  The facts of the 
“controlling case” in this matter only show how much the Commission would need to stretch in 
order to find a violation here.  If the Commission were to find that any group that sponsors 
communications five months before an election “can have no reasonable meaning other than to 
advocate the election or defeat” of a candidate, Arizona would have the broadest “independent 
expenditure” definition in the country, the effect of which would be a months-long moratorium 
on educating constituents on the official activities of their elected representatives.  This is far in 
excess of what the plain statutory language and the CJF opinion can support.   

The Executive Director makes much of the fact that the mailers were sent “after the 2018 
legislative session adjourned.”  [RTB at 5.]  This was dealt with explicitly in WRTL, when the 
FEC claimed that the TV ads were not issue advocacy because there were no filibusters in 
progress while the ads were running.  The United State Supreme Court responded: 

Next, the FEC and intervenors seize on the timing of WRTL's ads. 
They observe that the ads were to be aired near elections but not 
near actual Senate votes on judicial nominees, and that WRTL did 
not run the ads after the elections. To the extent this evidence goes 
to WRTL's subjective intent, it is again irrelevant. To the extent it 
nonetheless suggests that the ads should be interpreted as express 
advocacy, it falls short. That the ads were run close to an election 
is unremarkable in a challenge like this.  

551 U.S. at 472.  One Arizona’s ability to influence a legislator’s official actions cannot be 
limited to a window that is as narrow as the Executive Director suggests.  One Arizona can 
reasonably assume that an officeholder will be returned to office and continue to serve in the 
future, given the real phenomenon of incumbency retention. 
 



 
 

4 
 
 

The Executive Director appears to have a subjective belief that timing suggests an electoral 
purpose behind One Arizona’s mailers.  Subjective belief is not enough, though.  The mailers’ 
timing must be so close to an election that they “can have no reasonable meaning other than to 
advocate the election or defeat” of a candidate.  That exacting standard is not met here. 

 
Content 

As with the timing of an ad, when determining whether a communication constitutes 
“express advocacy,” the content of the ad is a factor in assessing whether it amounts to “express 
advocacy.”  A.R.S. § 16-901.01(a)(2).  But, again, that communication’s content must indicate 
that it “can have no reasonable meaning other than to advocate the election or defeat” of a 
candidate.  Id. 

The content of the mailers demonstrates that their purpose is to encourage citizens to engage 
their elected officials.  For example, it encourages the governed to contact their legislators so that 
they represent the interests of the governed.  A call to remind those in an elected official’s 
district that “State Lawmakers Should Represent Our interests,” does not suggest changing the 
lawmakers.  Rather, it explicitly calls on them to contact that lawmaker to ensure he or she 
represents their interest.  [RTP at 6.]  Similarly, the reference to 2019 makes it clear that the 
mailer assumes the lawmaker will be in office in 2019. [Id.] That is hardly express advocacy for 
or against that lawmaker.   

The piece provides concrete information on the elected official’s voting record.  Of course, 
that is explicitly exempted from the definition of express advocacy.  A communication “shall not 
be considered as one that expressly advocates merely because it presents information about the 
voting record or position on a campaign issue of three or more candidates, so long as it is not 
made in coordination with a candidate, political party, agent of the candidate or party or a person 
who is coordinating with a candidate or candidate's agent.” A.R.S. § 16-901.01(B).  While this 
piece does more than that—it also encourages the recipient to call his or her elected official and 
ask them to vote in the interest of those in the elected official’s district—it is perplexing how 
providing such “exempt” information can somehow make an issue advocacy piece into express 
advocacy.  [RTB at 7.] 

Conclusion 

Groups like One Arizona have a constitutional right to educate constituents on the behavior 
of elected officials.  Aligning the Arizona Legislature’s legislative actions with the values of 
those they govern is a legitimate purpose for One Arizona.  The exercise of that right is not an 
evasion of campaign finance rules.  

 



 
 

5 
 
 

We urge the Commission to find no reason to believe there was a violation here. 

 

Sincerely, 

James E. Barton II 

 

CC: Mike Liburdi, liburdim@gtlaw.com 

 

mailto:liburdim@gtlaw.com

	Agenda
	Item II - Minutes - July 19th
	Item III - ED Report
	Item III - ED Report.pdf
	Item III - Update Budget Memo

	Item V - MUR 18-12  American Strong RTB
	MUR 18-12 American Strong PAC RTB.pdf
	American Strong Exhibit 1
	Exhibit 2 American Strong PAC Response
	Exhibit 3 American Strong Pac IE Report, Aug 24 2018

	Item V - MUR 18-12 - Draft Concilliation - American Strong
	Item VI - MUR 18-07 One Arizona RTB
	Item VI - MUR 18-07 Complaint -95pgs
	Item VI - Response 08-17-18
	2018.08.17 Clean Elections Letter (2).pdf
	AZ Predatory Lenders Yarbrough_Mesnard
	2 OAZ18008_L17_Financial Regulation2_v1 2

	Item VI - Response 09-25-18

	Text1: American Strong Pac
	Text2: 4605 Lankershim Blvd Ste 320
	Text3: N. Hollywood
	Text4: CA
	Text5: 91602
	Text6: (480) 428-6036
	Text7: 
	Text8: Brad Lyon
	Text9: (480) 428-6036
	Text10: americanstrongpac@gmail.com
	Text11: 
	Text12: 
	Text13: 
	Text14: 
	Text15: 7/30/18
	Text16: $7,480
	Text17: Opposed: Michelle Ugenti-Rita
	Text18: 
	Text19: 
	Text20: 
	Text21: 
	Text22: 
	Text23: 


